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Thursday, November 13, 2014
--- On commencing at 10:05 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in the matter of a rate application by Festival Hydro for changes to the rates it charges for electricity distribution to be effective January 1st, 2015.  This matter has been assigned Board file number EB-2014-0073.

Festival Hydro filed its application on April 28th, 2014, and it was deemed complete on May 30th, 2014.

The record sets out the various procedural steps that have taken place.  A technical conference was held on September the 11th.  A settlement conference was held on September 29th.  A partial settlement agreement was filed on October 23rd, 2014.

The panel understands that Festival Hydro will be walking us through the proposed settlement agreement this morning.  We will then proceed to hear evidence on the contested issues.

My name is Christine Long, and I will be presiding in today's hearing.  Along with me is my colleague Ellen Fry.

May I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. STOLL:  Good morning, Scott Stoll for the applicant, Festival Hydro, and with me is my associate, Zoe Tohms, T-o-h-m-s.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.

MS. GRICE:  Shelley Grice, representing AMPCO.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Grice, good morning.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Aiken, good morning.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Rubenstein, good morning.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good morning, panel.  Ljuba Djurdjevic, counsel for Board Staff, and on behalf of Board Staff are Birgit Armstrong and Ciaran Bishop.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Djurdjevic, good morning.

Before we begin are there any preliminary matters that need to be dealt with?

MR. STOLL:  I don't think so.  I think there might be a conversation at some point about the date for final written argument, but I don't think we need to deal with that --


MS. LONG:  We can do that later on in the day.  I think there have been some dates that have been circulated and hopefully accepted, but Mr. Stoll then, maybe you could begin with an overview.  I think you were going to give us a brief overview of the settlement proposal?

MR. STOLL:  I do hope it's relatively brief as well.
FESTIVAL HYDRO INC.

Presentation of the Settlement Agreement by Mr. Stoll:


We were able to reach partial settlement, as we noted, and I guess part of what goes hand in hand is this, what we weren't able to settle, so I will deal first with, Board Staff had made a couple brief comments on one issue in the settlement agreement which had to do with a deferral and variance account, and there was a slight departure from Board practice, which would normally not see a disposal until a final audited number is done.

However, the account, which is account number 1595-2010, has a relatively small balance, and I think it was 56,321, and then there was an agreement as with the other utilit -- or with the other parties about the disposal, and so that account related to a rate rider that terminated April 30th of 2014.

We're basically going back to the 2013 audited numbers, and we're not going -- we're basically finishing the issue at that point, so we're not planning on coming back with a 2016 item in our -- the IRM application to dispose of the stub amount, basically.  We would end the issue, rather than coming -- waiting for another audit.

So really, given the dollar amount was so small, we basically decided we would finish with this issue, and it's a slight departure from Board practice, but I think, given the dollar size, everybody felt that it was appropriate.

That is kind of the one sort of anomalous area.  With respect to the other areas, while we didn't settle the larger issues on capital or O&M, we did make some progress in those areas, as you would see in the settlement agreement.

So if we look through that on the rate base side of things, we did settle some of the issues around capital structure, as far as the percentages and the rates, and I think everybody's in agreement that the percentages both on terms of rate and structure are consistent with the Board's expectations and its guidelines.

We recognize, given what's still at play here, the ultimate calculation of the dollar values are still in play.  And that kind of theme carries out where we've agreed on a process.

We also were able to agree on the forecast, both for customers and load, and the way that's allocated through the rate classes, and that -- and we did make the adjustments for CDM that were acceptable to people, so we were able to settle that.  That also got to a cost-of-power settlement, so that's behind us now as well.

So I'll leave my comments about what's not settled until we get into kind of the next phase.

With some of the other issues, the process for calculating PILs depreciation, we're in agreement with the process; it will just be the determination of the right numbers or the inputs into the calculations that are still at issue in this hearing, that will allow the calculations to play out.

So I think philosophically there is an agreement on a large number of issues, as far as the mechanics of how numbers will play out.  It is just getting the inputs settled in this hearing.

There was also the disposal of the deferral and variance accounts.  There was agreement on the disposal of what I would call the regular deferral and variance accounts.

As you will see from the application, one of the issues revolves around the transformer station and a bypass agreement, so leaving aside those, we were able to deal with all the deferral and variance accounts pretty much in accordance with the Board's expectations in its guidelines.

So cost allocation, again, the methodology for cost allocation is done.  There is only the one small issue on -- I shouldn't say the small, for the intervenors.  I'm putting words in their mouth.  There is one unresolved issue regarding fixed/variable split for one rate class, but other than that the cost allocation and rate design methodology is worked out.

So I'm not sure if the Board Panel needs me to go through anything in more detail regarding the settlement.  I'm happy to speak to some of the unsettled issues which -- if you would like as well.

MS. LONG:  I wonder, Mr. Stoll, if you could take us through just in a bit more detail before you talk about what the contested issues are.  Issue, I guess, 3.1, load forecast and cost allocation, page 18 of 56.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MS. LONG:  The paragraph that explains what you did for customer accounts with respect to CDM.  The paragraph under the --


MR. STOLL:  Under the table?

MS. LONG:  Under the table.  I wonder if you can provide with us a bit more of an explanation if you can.  I know it's...

MR. STOLL:  This is getting into a little bit of the math, but what we wanted to ensure is we were appropriately capturing the true CDM and that there wasn't a double-counting of CDM or removal of CDM, so that's where the parties were focused in coming to the number, and so there was a -- in the calculation there is a trend variable, and what -- the original application, I think there was the way the calculation played out, it appeared the trend variable was captured twice, but there were also some other factors, other than just the trend variable into the adjustment, and the parties came to an agreement on an adjustment that we thought was reflective of the trend -- what we -- of the trend variable being -- potentially being into the calculation twice.


So that's where we ended up with a number that was slightly different than the numbers that had been seen before.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


Maybe now you can proceed to what the contested issues are that we're going to hear evidence on today and tomorrow.


MR. STOLL:  And happy to do that.  And I'm not going to speak for my friends.


Rate base was not settled.  And there are, I guess, three buckets of issues in that regard, one being:  Is the 2015 test year appropriate, spending?  I assume from the compendium materials there will be a couple of question -- there should be some questions from my friends on that.


There may also be some questions regarding the 2014 spend for the bridge year.


My understanding -- and my friends can confirm this --the historical spend prior to the end of 2013, I think, is -- other than the transformer station-related issue, I think the 2013 stuff is -- there wouldn't be any questions on that.


The other issue which there have been a significant number of questions on through the written interrogatory process is -- revolves around a transformer station which was the subject of an ICM application in 2012, and what's called a bypass agreement, that -- the building of the transformer station enabled to be negotiated with Hydro One.


And the bypass agreement, if I can -- Festival has asked for recovery as part of rate base for the payment that is due under the bypass agreement.  I understand the other parties disagree with that.  It's not entirely clear whether they disagree with the recovery in total or whether it should -- or it's just a mechanism for recovery.


So, again, we've asked for -- it is approximately a $1.2 million payment under the bypass agreement.  Festival's position in the application, and it's reflected in the numbers, is that that's a capital asset.


We do have certain aspects that the company witnesses can speak to today as part of panel 1, but I understand there may be a couple of questions regarding the -- some of the accounting issues, and so we've -- as part of a panel 2, we have another witness from the auditing firm KPMG who performed the audit, that can appear tomorrow to answer some questions, along with the company's witnesses.


I guess -- so we have the kind of annual rate base, the transformer station.  The other issue is around working capital.


Festival applied for the 13 percent as provided in the guideline, and my understanding is that, given the compendium materials, there will be some significant questions around the appropriateness of that.


I think that takes us through the rate base issue -- the rate base issues.


The O&M issues, we weren't able to agree on, unfortunately.  I don't think I have a whole lot to say here, other than -- other than there was one change to the evidence.  We filed an update Monday of this week, and included in that update was a revised appendix 2M, which is the regulatory cost appendix.  And there was an adjustment because we actually did show up.


The numbers from Festival had not included a provision for an oral hearing, and also during the technical conference there was a small discussion regarding the intervenor -- the projected intervenor cost, so I think there was -- that adjustment was captured as well in the update, but it -- the amortization, basically, works out to the regulatory cost increasing to 120,000 from approximately 100,000 over the period of the IRM.


That change, we -- Festival did not provide complete updated work sheets for that to flow through, but we would know that that's one -- a change from the paper application that's been before.  And we assume that that will get worked out through the questions and the final disposition on the OM&A.


Which brings us to, I guess, revenue requirement, which was not resolved because the two constituent components, rate base and OM&A, were not resolved.


I don't believe there is any issue on how we would calculate the revenue requirement, and there was agreement on the other revenue.  So I think it really focuses on getting those first two big items.  And again, I call them "big items" because it is all of O&M and it is all of rate base, so there can be a fair breadth to those issues.


The other issue on --


MS. LONG:  Mr. Stoll, not to break your flow, but if I understand it, O&M is unsettled as a global issue, I understand.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MS. LONG:  And the intervenors will, perhaps, be able to enlighten us as to whether there are certain aspects of O&M that they have concerns with.


And I then I think there is the discrete issue with respect to the O&M related to the new transformer station.


MR. STOLL:  Yes, exactly.  And I was going to leave that and the -- and then the deferral accounts here.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Just...


MR. STOLL:  I'm going to let my friends speak, as you suggest, to what areas they may be directing us towards for the O&M spend.


The fixed -- the rate design issue, which I guess was bucket 4 in the settlement agreement of unsettled issues, is again that -- it's a point about a fixed/variable split in the GS greater than 50 class.


I had a very brief discussion with my friends.  I don't believe we need any questions on that issue, if we can proceed just to argument.  I think the evidence is before us, what happened, and then it will just be really more an issue for argument.


Again, I'll let them speak to that.


And then the final issue goes to the rate -- or the deferral variance accounts associated with the bypass and the transformer station.  And I assume there will be a number of questions about that.


There was some O&M.  In that one, that's part of -- what we're characterizing as -- the rules talk about the truing up process, to bring forth what was contemplated from the ICM to what actually has transpired over the last year and a half or so.  And it's all part of the same sort of comprehensive approach to that issue.


So that's where I see the next day or so going.  If you have any questions, I'm happy to answer them.  Otherwise...


MS. LONG:  I don't think we have any questions at this point.  So I would ask, Mr. Stoll, that you introduce your panel to us.


We are going to have you do your direct examination first, and then we're going to ask the intervenors if they can perhaps give us a high-level overview of the areas that they plan to canvass this morning and tomorrow.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I have four witnesses from the company, so if they could be affirmed or sworn in?


Mr. Semsedini, CEO -- actually I'll start from my far right and work left.


Ms. Kelly McCann, Ms. Debbie Reece, Mr. Ysni Semsedini.  That's Y-S-N-I.  And then Mr. Jac Vanderbaan.  And I'll let them speak to what they do after they're affirmed.

FESTIVAL HYDRO LTD. - PANEL 1

Kelly McCann, Affirmed


Debbie Reece, Affirmed


Ysni Semsedini, Affirmed


Jac Vanderbaan, Affirmed

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Stoll:

MR. STOLL:  I'll just with a brief introduction through each of the witnesses, and then we'll do a direct on the subject matter.

So I'll start with Mr. Semsedini.  Can you provide your name and position with the company?  And I would note, as part of the updates CVs were filed on each of the witnesses.

MS. LONG:  Yes.  Thank you.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Thank you, yes, my name is Ysni Semsedini, and I am the CEO of Festival Hydro.

MR. STOLL:  And were you involved in the preparation of the evidence?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  And what part of that evidence were --


MR. SEMSEDINI:  Specifically, I was responsible in the creation of the distribution plan, and I'm also responsible for the overall application.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And do you adopt the record to date as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I do.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And do you have any updates or corrections or changes that you would like to make to the evidence?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  The only updates were the ones that Mr. Stoll highlighted, the update to appendix 2M, which was the regulatory cost to include the cost of the oral hearing, and we also are updating Exhibit 9, tab 3, schedule 12, pages 4 to 9 to update the ICM model to reflect actual costs incurred and up to January 1st, 2015.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, thank you.

I'll go to -- I'll start at the far -- go to the far end.  Can you provide -- Ms. McCann, can you provide your name, position?

MS. McCANN:  Kelly McCann, financial and regulatory manager.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, and what was your involvement in the preparation of the evidence?

MS. McCANN:  I was involved in the preparation of the OM&A part of the application.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, and do you adopt that record, the record to date, as your evidence?

MS. McCANN:  I do.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And do you have any changes or corrections other than what Mr. Semsedini referred to?

MS. McCANN:  No, I do not.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, and Ms. Reece, I'll go through the same questions.  Can you -- your name and position?

MS. REECE:  Debbie Reece, CFO of Festival Hydro.

MR. STOLL:  And what was your involvement in the preparation of the evidence?

MS. REECE:  I was involved with a great part of the application, with the exception of Exhibit 2 on capital.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, and other than the corrections and updates -- sorry, do you adopt the record to date as your evidence?

MS. REECE:  I do.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And do you have any other corrections or amendments other than what Mr. Semsedini referred to?

MS. REECE:  No.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Mr. Vanderbaan, your name and position, please.


MR. VANDERBAAN:  My name is Jac Vanderbaan.  I am the president of Festival Hydro.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And what was your involvement in the preparation of the evidence?

MR. VANDERBAAN:  I worked with Mr. Semsedini on the distribution system plan, as well as Ms. McCann on the operating and maintenance, as well as all the aspects of the transformer station.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And do you adopt the record to date as your evidence?

MR. VANDERBAAN:  Yes, I do.

MR. STOLL:  And do you have any further updates other than what Mr. Semsedini referred to?

MR. VANDERBAAN:  No, I do not.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I'm going to turn now to the capital issue, and just, it will be a fairly brief overview.

And Mr. Semsedini, I'll put this to you:  You've applied for certain relief in respect of the transformer station.  Do you want to just take a minute and talk about what you've requested and the rationale from Festival Hydro's perspective for the request?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Thank you.  When looking at our capital request and the transformer station specifically -- maybe I'll just give you a little history on the TS.  So Festival Hydro, this is the first TS that we've ever built and owned.  Construction of that started in 2012, kind of in the south part of Stratford.  Our ICM was approved in 2013, and the station went online in December of 2013.

There's really three issues that I see that we've been discussing quite a bit, which is the true-up mechanism -- what we'll refer to as the true-up mechanism being one issue; the OM&A, which is, in our mind, somewhat related to the true-up mechanism; and the bypass agreement, which isn't part of the ICM application but is related to the station in terms of, without a transformer station that we owned we couldn't enter into a bypass agreement, so there is relation there, but it is not part of the ICM application.

Within the true-up calculation, what Festival Hydro is really looking to do here is, the station, as I had mentioned, was built in December 2013, and what we're looking to do now is look at our actual cost as of kind of Jan. 1st as our new rates in 2015 to true-up the ICM mechanism.

The amount of capital spent on the transformer station was $551,300 less than budgeted, so that would be a reduction that we would apply to the ICM model, and the other difference was that when we initially went into the ICM model, we expected that we would be going into a cost of service the year after, and the ICM has specific rules around applying half-year rules if you are going into a cost-of-service year.

We did not go into a cost of service the year after the transformer station went into service, and therefore we are looking to true-up the actual depreciation of the transformer station, as that wasn't the case.

The second issue around OM&A is really about the cost that it -- to operate the station.  So as I had mentioned, the station went online December 2013.  There was actually some costs, such as monitoring, that take place before the station goes live, so there was some OM&A costs even earlier than the December go-live date, but really the OM&A costs are around December of 2013 and the 2014 OM&A costs to run the station.

The transformer station is an incremental cost for Festival Hydro, wasn't something that we had included in our rates in 2010, and apply solely to the building of a transformer station.

Finally, it was the issue around the bypass.  We had entered into a bypass agreement with Hydro One to move 20 megs of load from the existing station in Stratford that is owned by Hydro One to our new transformer station.  That has an economic benefit for Festival Hydro and our customers, and as such we have put it in as an intangible asset within our rate base.

MR. STOLL:  And just a point of clarity.  You said 20 megs.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  That's 20 megawatts of demand.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes, sorry.  Yes, sorry.

MR. STOLL:  Just -- okay.  And can you, I guess, provide a little more detail of sort of the accounting process that was followed for these adjustments?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Sure, so if I take those issues kind of on a one-by-one explanation, in terms of the true-up mechanism at Festival Hydro, we followed the filing requirements, section 2.5.2.6, to update the ICM model to include actual costs, so that's where we did the reduction of the $551,300 of the gross cost of the transformer station.

Within that true-up calculation, we also now, if we look back at what actually transpired, since we didn't go into a cost-of-service application, we applied full-year depreciation to the model and used full asset value, as opposed to the half-year rule within the gross asset amount as well.

We reran the calculation to look at the 13 months that the station was actually in service, and that was similar to approaches that we had seen in Oakville's ICM application where, if the station was in service for a partial year, they took a full-year calculation and applied the percentage of time that that station was online, so instead of applying a half-year rule in 2013 we took the actual time that the station went on, which was December.

Had we applied a half year rule, that would have been additional recovery, but we thought that it was better that we actually looked at the number of months because a transformer station is a very unique asset.  So we took the actual month the transformer station went into service.

In regards to the OM&A, we followed the accounting policies highlighted in section 2.2.7 of the filing guidelines.  And what we did was we applied the ICM values within USOA 1508.  However, we did apply the OM&A values in there as well.  From our perspective, there really isn't a place within the ICM model to include OM&A cost, so we followed the same, I guess, principle that we had just done in smart metering and created an account within the ICM 1508 to capture OM&A costs for 2013 and 2014.

On the bypass agreement, we put the asset into USOA 1609 as an intangible asset.  We believe that the bypass provides long-term benefit for Festival Hydro and its customers, and as such meets both the accounting and regulatory requirements of an asset.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And just in the -- one other -- one detailed question on your second point.  What was the amount of the O&M costs that you were seeking recovery for?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Sorry, in the transformer station --


MR. STOLL:  For the transformer station.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  So the round numbers are 104,000 in 2013 and 140,000 in 2014.

And I should mention that one of the costs incurred now is an OM&A cost in 2013.  It was training.  And so that was highlighted in the original application as a part of the capital, but with the change into IFRS, we had to take that as an expense.  So that was a cost that was highlighted within the original ICM application.

MR. STOLL:  Thank you.

And I guess does this transformer station impact anything else other than the rate base and the O&M that you've referred to?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Really, the transformer station -- so in a couple of elements, the true-up affects the deferral and variance accounts, which would be Exhibit 9.  And then of course that would affect the bill going to the customer, so Exhibit 8 as well.

In terms of the permanent bypass, there -- Exhibit 2 would be affected in terms of the capital and rate base, and then, again, that would affect the bill going to the customer, so Exhibit 8, the rate design as well.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And just going kind of the larger capital or rate base issues, what's the amount of rate base that's being requested by Festival Hydro in this application?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  So the amount of rate base that we're requesting is $62,963,284.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And the –- okay.  We'll do a couple of annual numbers here.  What's the annual capital spend that's planned for the 2015 test year?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  The capital spend that we're looking for in 2015 is $2,501,500.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And the -- what was included in the application for the 2014 bridge year for capital spend?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  So the capital spend, not including capital contributions, was $2,773,000.  We put a capital contribution estimate of about 150,000 in for that year.  So that would reduce the total number to $2,623,000.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And the test year capital spend, how does that compare to the other future years that would be included in the IRM period?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  So the 2015 spend that we're looking to do would be 5 percent lower than the average spend for the four preceding years -- or future years, sorry.

MR. STOLL:  All right.  And on the working capital issue, can you just outline what Festival Hydro did?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Festival Hydro followed the filing requirements, section 2.5.1.4, and applied a 13 percent working capital allowance, as we had not conducted a lead-lag study.

MR. STOLL:  From the last cost of service, the 2010 application, was Festival directed to do a lead-lag study in that application?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  No.

MR. STOLL:  All right.  Those are my questions on rate base.  I'm going to switch to a couple of questions on operations, maintenance and administration.

And I just want you to provide the -- if you can, what's the amount of the OM&A that's being requested?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  So for 2015, Festival Hydro is looking for OM&A costs of $5,139,182.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And does that include the regulatory cost update that we spoke about earlier?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  No, it does not.

MR. STOLL:  And that is a -- and I had made earlier submissions.  What's the impact of the regulatory cost update on that request, approximately?  Ms. McCann, if you...

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Roughly 17,000 per year.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  All right.  And in your application, can you provide an overview of what has driven the changes in the OM&A since your last cost of service application?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Sure.  From our last cost of service application in 2010, we've really kind of divided the bucket into two parts, one being controllable costs for Festival Hydro and the other being uncontrollable costs for Festival Hydro.

About 57 percent of the increase that we're seeking here today would be from uncontrollable costs, from our perspective.  These costs include the OM&A associated with the new transformer station.  They would include incremental costs associated with the introduction of smart meters.  They would include additional costs associated with the change from CGAAP to IFRS accounting standards.  And also increases from OMERS premiums that are outside Festival Hydro's control.

The other 43 percent of the increases are really being driven through compensation increases.  And just a note here:  From 2010 to 2015, Festival Hydro has not increased its headcount, so we have the same number of employees as our last filing.  And 17 percent of that increase is actually associated with wage progressions, so people in 2010 who might have been new hires or kind of in lower stages of progression now moving up to their top rate over that timeframe.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And just a couple of other very brief questions.  You -- have you concluded your labour negotiations?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We have.

MR. STOLL:  And can you provide a brief overview of the result of those negotiations regarding compensation?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  So within our union negotiations, we came to an agreement of a 1.75 percent increase, and that was a general increase.  But there was also a -- there was some additional payments to certain positions, so skilled trade positions or semiskilled positions were given an additional increase to keep them kind of in line with other surrounding utilities.

The overall impact, when taking the union and non-union increase, the non-union increase was 1.75, was a 2.02 percent average increase for each year of the three-year contract.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Stoll, before you move on, I just wanted to clarify, Mr. Semsedini, the total amount that you have budgeted for this application before the Board.  Can you give me that number?  I know you gave us an updated number, but can you give me the total number?  Or Ms. McCann, if that's easier.

MS. McCANN:  Sorry, are you looking for the gross number...

MS. LONG:  Yes.

MS. McCANN:  So I believe it is $284,000.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. STOLL:  Yeah, I think there is the appendix 2M, if it's the number at the bottom.  If you could check, I think it's 282, so close enough.

MS. LONG:  I just wanted a ballpark.

MR. STOLL:  Yeah.  I don't have anything more to ask the witnesses in-chief for this panel.  I propose to turn it over to cross-examination, and I understand Mr. Aiken is the first person to cross.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.  So Mr. Aiken, I believe that you're going first.

MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.

MS. LONG:  And we would ask if you could just give us an overview as to what areas you are going to cover in your cross-examination and, to the extent that you can, highlight for us what the issues are from your client's perspective.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, I can state that the concern from my client is the -- that some of the outcomes of this filing may not be consistent with the RRFE.  And of course, the major outcome is rate, so obviously the capital spending, which flows through to rate base, the OM&A, and the working capital, those three issues flow into that overarching issue, and I will be crossing on each of those three areas.

And then in terms of the -- basically, issues 4 and 5, that we've heard about this morning, it is a bypass agreement and the ICM, the half-year depreciation recovery, and the incremental O&M costs, which don't flow directly into rates but are potential cost to customers, and I will be crossing on those items as well.

MS. FRY:  Just a little bit of a clarification, Mr. Aiken, you said some of the outcomes may not be consistent with the RRFE, and as we know, there are a number of principles in the RRFE.  At this stage are you able to be any more specific?

MR. AIKEN:  Sure, it's basically listed in the issues list, things like customer feedback and preferences, productivity, benchmarking of costs, impact on distribution rates, and the objectives of the applicants and its customers.

As you will have seen, I have a compendium.

MS. LONG:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  So I was wondering if I could get that marked.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We'll make that Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  COMPENDIUM.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  I'm going to start out, panel, with the capital additions, so if you could turn to page 228 of the compendium.  You will see a table there that I've put together.

Have you had a chance to review the calculation of what I've called the normalized additions in the final column?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Mr. Aiken, we have had a look at that.  I think the only variance that we can see within your numbers versus ours is just the contributed capital account.  I think you used 140 in our numbers.  We might have used 150, but let's say it's immaterial in terms of the calculation, which --


MR. AIKEN:  So would you accept then that these figures are a reasonable representation of your normalized net additions close to rate base?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And I take it you would agree with me that by just eyeballing these figures, the additions in 2015 through 2019 are less on average than during the 2010 through 2014 period?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And is this decline driven, at least partly, by customer feedback?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  That's a bit of a complex question.  The feedback that we received from our customers is that reliability was there -- was a very important indicator in the -- in the utility's performance, the other being price right behind it.

I would say what has caused the decrease is really the review of and the creation of the distribution system plan that analyzed our current asset condition and took into account what we believed our spending would need to be over a ten-year period to have a smoothed capital spend program in place.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, then could you turn to pages 229 through 235 in the compendium.  These are some of the results taken from your customer engagement survey which was in Exhibit 1, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment 1.

And I actually, now that you mention it, want to start at page 235.

MS. FRY:  Excuse me, Mr. Aiken, it is a little bit slow to get the page up on the screen, so if you could just wait until we get that, we will be able to follow you better.

MR. AIKEN:  And you mention that the reliability was of -- one of the highest concerns, and we see can see there that price and reliability are the two biggest concerns that ratepayers have; is that correct?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I would agree with that, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  So then if you go back to page 229.  And I think this basically ties into your capital expenditures.  We see the results here that three-quarters of your customers find your existing level of reliability acceptable, and the remaining one-quarter is actually evenly split between the ones who think you should be spending more and the ones who think you should be spending less, and they are willing to tolerate decline in reliability.

So that is essentially what is driving your capital expenditure, is that there is no major increase, because your reliability is satisfactory for your customers.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes, so the -- if you go through our asset management plan you will see one of the underlying themes to say that we are looking to keep reliability flat to slightly improving, but not looking at any major investments to change kind of the reliability of our system.

MR. AIKEN:  And that is also then reflective of, for example, page 230.  The question there was:  Should you invest in web-based outage mapping and that type of data?  And based on the bottom two numbers, which add up to about 88 percent, they're saying, Don't invest in that.  We wouldn't use that.


And so you are not doing that; is that correct?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And similarly, on page 231, this talks about burying Hydro lines, and again, close to three-quarters don't support that if it results in an increase in rates.  So you are not proposing to do that.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And then on page 233, this talks about providing real-time information about electricity usage.  And again, in this case, more than 85 percent of your customers don't believe an increase in costs is worth that information they would get.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And you are not proposing to do that?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I want to briefly focus on the electric vehicle and charging station you have in the 2015 budget.

The total amount is 70,000; correct?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I believe -- I believe that's the budget amount.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, is this vehicle a replacement of an existing vehicle or an addition to your fleet?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Our overall fleet plan will reduce the number of vehicles that we have, so this would act as a replacement and a kind of test vehicle for us as well.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, so if it's a replacement, the $70,000 then is not really then an incremental cost, it is -- some portion of that would be incremental over a standard vehicle; is that correct?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you have an estimate of what that would be?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We could say that that increase would be maybe a 30- to $40,000 difference.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I think that's my questions on capital.  So the next area I've got is working capital percentage.

Does Festival agree that a distributor that bills all of its customers monthly has a lower working capital allowance need than a distributor that bills some or all of its customers on a bimonthly basis?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you explain why?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  If I look at the decision that the Board had just put out for Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro, I think they highlight where they do a comparison between London Hydro and, I believe, Hydro One, one being a monthly biller and the other one being a bimonthly biller, and their rates are almost the same.  So within that decision, I think it shows that the -- the individual utility situation is a bigger driver than if it's monthly or bimonthly billing.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you then turn to page 58 and 59 in the compendium?  And I'm starting at the bottom of page 58, the last paragraph.  This is the EB-2009-0096 Hydro One Networks Inc. Board decision, and I'll just read the last paragraph on page 58 of the compendium.  It says:

"Starting in 2010 Hydro One will begin the migration of 140,000 customers from bimonthly billing to monthly billing.  This migration is expected to be completed by mid-2011 and will reduce the revenue lag by 1.96 days from 69.99 days for those customers.  Hydro One estimated this change will reduce the working capital requirement by approximately $13 million per year when the full-year impact of the migration occurs in 2012."

And then under -- on the next page under the "Board Findings," approximately two-thirds of the way down in that paragraph, after the 6535:

"The Board indicates that the Board will also make an adjustment to recognize the impact of the shift from bimonthly to monthly billing."

So doesn't this say that the Board realizes that there is an impact on your cash flow of monthly versus bimonthly billing?

MR. STOLL:  I'm going to object.  I think he's asking for a legal interpretation of the Board's decision here, which is really a subject for argument.  The words say what they say and we can have our discussion in argument about what that means.  I don't think it's necessarily a proper question for the panel.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you agree that the service lag for a distributor that bills customers monthly is 15.21 days, while it's double that for customers that are billed bimonthly?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I would agree that a monthly distributor would have less days than one who bills bimonthly, relating just to service, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could turn to page 2 of the compendium, at lines 5 through 8 are four lead-lag studies where the Board approved a percentage prior to the issuance of this letter of April 12th, 2012.

Sorry, I've included that letter on pages 3 and 4 of the compendium.

My question is on the "Service lag" column.  Would you agree that the service lags noted there reflect that none of these distributors billed all of their customers on a monthly basis?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I can't say for sure.

MR. AIKEN:  Are you aware of the issue that has arisen in the last year or so that indicates that the service lags in these older studies were based on what the authors of those studies, Navigant, now calls an obsolete methodology that was based on customer weighting rather than on revenue weightings?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I did read something like that in Mr. Shepherd's letter.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then going back to page 1 of the compendium, first of all, have you had a chance to look at these calculations and agree whether they're accurate?  This is the impact on ratepayers.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We have had a look.  The only discussion we had was in terms of the tax rate being -- you know, actual tax rate against -- kind of a deemed tax rate versus the actual tax rate.  But if you are asking about the impact to the ratepayer as it relates to working capital, the 55,762, that looks to be correct from our point of view.

MR AIKEN:  And just flipping over to page 2 of the compendium, I asked you on the service lags whether this reflected that none of those were on monthly billing.

On the second part of the table, which reflects the most recent lead-lag studies that the Board has seen and, in most cases, already approved, would you agree there that the only distributor that bills all of its customers on a monthly basis based on the service lag is London Hydro, which shows it as 15.21 days?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Again, I can't say if that's accurate or not.

MR. AIKEN:  Has Festival done any analysis of its cash flow requirements?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  In terms of the lead-lag study, no.  Cash flow in terms of yearly budgets and looking at, you know, five-year budgets and seeing what Festival Hydro's cash position is looking like over our horizon planning period, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  What is your average cash flow requirement on a monthly basis?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Do you mean in terms -- in – like --


MR. AIKEN:  Well, I'm assuming that there must be a number that you come up with, so that you know what your -- how much cash you've got and what your line of credit -- is needed.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Right.

MR. AIKEN:  So that you can pay the IESO and all your expenses when you get the bills, and then have enough cash for a positive flow?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We really do that through historical information.  So we do have a line of credit; we monitor that line of credit on a month-to-month basis, but we don't come up with a number at the beginning of the year to say our requirement is X or Y.  We simply -- it's been a case of historical information and keeping an eye on our available room for borrowing.

MR. AIKEN:  I realize you may not be familiar with a lead-lag study and the various components, but maybe you do so I'm going to ask the question.  Do you agree that there would be no change in the billing lag, the collection lag or the payment processing lag if the service lag were changed from bimonthly to monthly billing?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Generally, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And would you also agree that there would be no change in any of the expense lead days?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Madam Chair, you will be happy to know that's the extent of my working capital cross.

MS. FRY:  Mr. Aiken, before you go to your next topic, I do have a question of clarification for the witness.

So, Mr. Semsedini, you said that in your view the main driver is not whether you are on monthly or bimonthly billing; the main driver is the individual circumstances of the particular distributor.  I am just wondering if you can give us some examples of the types of things that might be relevant there when you are considering the individual circumstances?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Sorry, do you mean for Festival Hydro specifically?  I believe the comment you are referring to is the Board decision that I looked at that said that individual utility circumstance is more of a driver than the actual billing cycle?

MS. FRY:  Yeah.  I mean, in your experience at Festival Hydro, what are the types of things that are key drivers?  Some examples.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I mean, they're -- how long do you wait before paying an invoice, so your own payment terms.  Do you pay an invoice as soon as you get it?  Do you hold on until the due date?  That is going to affect your cash position.

How do you pay employees?  Do you pay weekly?  Every two weeks?  Do you pay monthly?  Do you pay ahead for the employees?  Do you pay behind, when the service is created?

There are a number of factors that would affect cash position within the utility.

MS. FRY:  Any more particularly key examples that leap to mind?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Off the top of my head -- I guess the other thing -- I think off the top of our head that's kind of -- some of the ones, but I'm sure that's not an exhaustive list.

MS. FRY:  No, I'm not asking for an exhaustive list.  I was just interested in some examples that come to the top of your mind.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Aiken, do you want to move on to your next area?

MR. AIKEN:  I just have one follow-up from Ms. Fry's questions.

Do you pay your IESO invoices on the same basis as all utilities?  I know the due date is the same for everybody.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And the IESO invoice for the cost of power and Hydro One charges is the majority of your cost of power and controllable expenses; is that correct?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  So then, Madam Chair, when are you expecting a break?

MS. LONG:  I thought we would break around 11:30, around that time, if you can plan your cross accordingly.

MR. AIKEN:  I am moving on now to the issue of OM&A, so if you could turn to page 241 of the compendium.  There are a couple of tables there that I have put together with some figures.

And I'm just going to ask you about section 1 upfront.  Are these numbers accurate?  I notice -- you mentioned a different number for OM&A, because I've included property taxes, and I think it's the leap expenditures, because they aren't broken out in the historical years.

MS. McCANN:  Yes, that was the only difference we noted in the test year.

MR. AIKEN:  And is the 2015 number -- should that be increased by the $17,100 increase in the regulatory cost?

MS. McCANN:  Yes, it should.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So looking at that appendix 2M, where you've increased the regulatory cost -- and this is from what you filed on Monday.  It is not in the compendium.  Is the, by my calculations, the $17,100 increase, so that means that the -- your forecast of the oral hearing cost is about $85,000?

MS. McCANN:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Am I correct that you updated the OM&A expenses for wages and salaries as part of the interrogatory response?

MS. McCANN:  Yes, we did.

MR. AIKEN:  So if you turn to page 251 of the compendium.  This is a response, I believe, to 4 Staff number 40.  That's -- the 24,895 shown right at the bottom of that table on the last column, that is the increase from the original evidence?

MS. McCANN:  Yes, it is.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, do any of these numbers change because of the change in the regulatory cost, or is the amount like 2-, $3,000, or nothing?

MS. McCANN:  I guess, yeah, actually, they would change very minimally due to incremental overtime costs incurred for this application.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And so back to page 240 on the compendium.  Sorry for bouncing around.  I'm now going to be looking at section 2 -- sorry, 241.  I'm going to be looking at section 2 of that table.  What I'm trying to do here is create an apples-to-apples comparison of the OM&A expenses for each of the years shown.

So just to walk you through so you understand what I've done, on line 15, I've put in the same numbers as -- that I used in the total OM&A in section 1.  Line 16, I've removed the special purpose charge that you had included in OM&A in 2010, because that was a one-time expense.  Then lines 17 and 18, I've removed the smart-meter expense from 2012, because that's when you booked it as OM&A, and I've put it back in in the previous years as to when you actually spent the money.

Similarly, for the PST costs shown on lines 19 and 20, just a reallocation of the same numbers.  And then line 21 is the accounting change that you made reference to this morning.  And then line 22 is your change in billable work.

My first question is:  Can you explain what this change in billable work is?  Because I understand it is outside of what you capitalize it.

MS. McCANN:  Yeah, I can explain that a little further.  So when we changed the overhead application policies, basically the main driver of this billable is we reduce some of the overhead allocated and we eliminated some, because the costs could no longer be allocated to capital.

In doing that, by eliminating that total allocation, we therefore did not allocate the cost to billable work orders either, and therefore these costs are now impacting our OM&A expenses.  They aren't being billed out to our customers any more.  They are sitting in our OM&A.

MR. AIKEN:  So as a result of your accounting change -- maybe I just don't follow this, but why would the -- you are not selling assets when you do billable work, so why would the costs that you are billing to somebody you are doing billable work for decrease?

MS. McCANN:  To be honest, it was -- within our system, the overhead was completely eliminated, and our overheads are following our labour hours, so when our labour hours are being charged to a billable work order, the overhead being calculated on those billable hours is now much reduced and those expenses are, therefore, going directly to the OM&A, rather than being included in billable work orders.

So it's -- it is a system -- a system issue.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, I think I follow that.

Now, back to section 2, this table.  Do you agree that the -- line 23, the adjusted total, is the appropriate comparison for the years on an apples-to-apples basis?

MS. McCANN:  No, I do not.  I believe there is a few additional items that need to be considered.  We don't have the figures for all of the years, the historical test year, but -- or, sorry, the bridge year, but in the test year, for example, incremental OM&A costs have not been considered, incremental smart-meter costs have not been considered, and the impact of the OMERS premiums increases over the years has not been considered.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, when you talk about the smart meters, what additional smart-meter expense do you have in 2015, compared to what you've -- for example, the 241,000 you actually spend in 2012?

MS. McCANN:  Right, so there are various incremental smart-meter costs that have been added since 2012.  If you give me a moment I can find the reference to an interrogatory that has a list of them.

So the costs -- we total the incremental smart-meter costs to be $136,000, and you can see that breakdown in 4 VECC 22.  Does anyone want me to pull that up or...

MR. AIKEN:  No, I'm fine.

And, sorry, what was the other increase?  Oh, the OMERS.  Okay.  Fine.

Now, I went through efficiency cohort groupings that are on the Board's website, and if I read them correctly, Festival was in the most efficient group in each of 2010 through 2013; is that correct?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Then for 2014 and '15, Festival is now in group 4, which is the second-least efficient group.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  My question is:  What changed?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  The methodology in which the PEG report determines efficiencies changed.  Now the Board is looking at more of a total cost model.

If you look at the breakdown of what the new numbers are generated from, there is an OM&A component and there is a capital component.  In the OM&A component, Festival Hydro, even if you compare our 2015 request versus actual 2013 of all other distributors, Festival Hydro is still the twentieth-lowest OM&A per customer utility in the province, so I would say that hasn't changed.

In the capital side, Festival Hydro has spent money after we purchased six other municipalities.  We've spent a lot of money upgrading the system, so capital costs from the kind of 2002 to current day, in updating those areas.

So if you look at what our main cost driver is within the PEG analysis, it is really capital; it is not the OM&A that is leading us to be a fourth grouping utility.

In the capital amounts, we have sent a letter to the Board Staff, saying that we can't reconcile $3.2 million of gross capital spend within the PEG analysis to what we have on our records as capital spend.  I'm still waiting for a comment back on that discrepancy.

I would also like to note that previous to this filing, Festival Hydro was -- I believe it was the 28th highest spending utility when you look at capital versus depreciation, as a percentage of depreciation.

With our new DSP plan and a 16 percent reduction that we've taken in our plan going forward, we are actually now the ninth lowest spending utility as it relates to capital as a percentage of depreciation.

That reduction alone should move us -- even if the numbers at the PEG analysis are correct, which I'm not saying they are.  But if we use those numbers as a baseline, that would move Festival Hydro from the fourth cohort to the third cohort over a two and a half year period, and would put us at benchmark spending within a ten-year period.

So we have looked at the analysis.  We have taken to heart within our DSP what our customers have said.  We have reduced our capital spend to one of the lowest in the province.  And we think over a ten-year period that will bring us back into line with benchmarking costs.

MR. AIKEN:  What is our average cost per bill issued, cost for things like postage, envelopes, paper, payment processing?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I don't have that number off the top of my head.  Is there...

MR. AIKEN:  Would it be roughly $1?  I'm taking that the postage is, what, 85 cents or whatever it is these days?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  It would be a wild guess for me to give you a number.  I don't know off the top of my head what the average cost is.

MR. AIKEN:  Would it be a lot of work to provide that number?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Is -- can you help me understand what information you are kind of looking for?  And maybe we can provide it for you in another way.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, I mean, it's your average cost per bill issued.  And I mentioned the postage cost, the envelopes, the paper they're printed on, payment processing.  When you get the payment in, you've got people who process the payment.  To me those would be the four key items in a -- in a cost of issuing a bill.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Mm-hmm.  I think the challenge that we're going to have is with our system to be able to pull out those costs, because it's -- we have labour and then how much time is allocated to individual billing elements, and pulling that all out if you are just looking at how much it costs just to send out the bill.

MR.  AIKEN:  What's the postage rate these days you have to pay Canada Post?  I know you probably get a discount from the rest of us, but...

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I'm hearing about 80 cents.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Could you turn to page 250 of the compendium?  There is a table there labelled "Summary of inflationary increases."

Now, you talked earlier today about 2015 and the new agreement you have in place.  We're showing here 2 and a half percent for each of the three groups of employees.

Am I correct that the union non-management is 1.75 that you mentioned this morning?

MS. McCANN:  As Ysni alluded to, the cost of living increase agreed to is 1.75.

There are also some wage escalators for some categories within the union agreement, and then there is the benefit impact.

So the average inflationary -- the average increase of all of those components is 2.02.

MR. AIKEN:  I guess I misunderstood, because I thought the 2.02 was for all employees, including senior management and management.

MS. McCANN:  The 2.0 would be across the board here.

MR. AIKEN:  All three on average go up 2 percent?

MS. McCANN:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Thanks.

Now, I want to turn to the response to 1 Staff 68, technical conference question.  That is not in my compendium and I apologize for that.  I missed it when I was putting it together.

And this has to do with the $24,895 increase in total compensation costs.  And you pointed out in the response to Staff that the actual amount was 27,155, and then part of that was capitalized.

But in the preamble to the question, Staff notes about the increase in the management category of about $38,000 and a decrease of 13,000 for non-management.  And that ties into the 2 and a half percent going down to the 2 percent, and then your management structure change.

So my question is:  Of the $38,000 net increase in the management category, can you break that down to the change in your structure and the reduction based on the 2 and a half going down to 2 percent?

MS. McCANN:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Or do you have those numbers?

MS. McCANN:  I don't have those numbers with me right now, but I can get that for you.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to do that, please?

MS. McCANN:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We will give that Undertaking No. J1.1.  And could you just state it for the record?

MR. AIKEN:  To split the net increase of $38,000 in the management category referenced in 1 Staff 68 TCQ between the reduction for the overall increase and the increase for the change in the management structure.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO SPLIT THE NET INCREASE OF $38,000 IN THE MANAGEMENT CATEGORY REFERENCED IN 1 STAFF 68 TCQ BETWEEN THE REDUCTION FOR THE OVERALL INCREASE AND THE INCREASE FOR THE CHANGE IN THE MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE.

MR. AIKEN:  Now this change in the management structure, you talk about that in Exhibit 1, tab 6, schedule 12.  And you don't need to pull this up, but it says here that:

"Effective May 12th, 2014, Festival's internal corporate structure changed by separating the president/CEO position into two positions..."

Which I see, because there are two people sitting up there.  It also says:

"...and eliminating the VP of engineering and operations position and the COO position."

And it goes on about the rationale.

So my question is -- I just want to make sure I'm clear on this.  When I look at the flow chart of the people, of the positions, what was -- or what is now the CEO was the CEO/president.  And what is now the president, was that the VP of engineering and operations, essentially?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Essentially.  I mean, the C -- I would say the president would be closer to what the COO role had been.  And the CEO role kind of went from a 4 to a 3 in terms of the total number of people who were involved.  So it is a CFO.  The previous COO I'll say is now the president's role.  And then there is a CEO as well.  And no VP.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  That's getting at what I was going to ask.  So there were two positions eliminated and one position was split into two, so there is a net reduction of one individual?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Or one position?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  On page 251 -- and we've looked at this before -- this is the updated appendix 2K.

Can you explain to me why the percentage of the total compensation allocated to capital out of the total employee cost is dropping significantly between 2013 to '14 and '15?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  The change that's happening, you can see from our filing that we are requesting less capital spending on a year-over-year basis, and which means that more of the work is coming into more of an OM&A side, as opposed to capital, and this kind of ties back into what I had mentioned before about Festival Hydro being able to keep the number of employees constant from 2010 to '15.

So although we've been constant, there's been changing requirements on us as a company, and as a company what we've found is that we're moving from a total capital-intensive company to more the OM&A to cover some of the, you know, whatever the burdens are internally.  So if it's additional regulatory burden or additional burdens put in from ESA requirements, 2204 installations.

So as a utility we've been able to keep our head count constant, but we've had to change how people have been -- I guess they're split between capital and OM&A as a company, and that's why you are kind of seeing a change within the organization of the split percentage.

MR. AIKEN:  And is there anything other than the reduction in the capital expenditures that is driving a significant part of that reduction, or is that -- that's the key thing, I would take it?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I would say that's probably the majority of the change that you're seeing happening as a company.

MR. AIKEN:  My last question under the OM&A is, do you compare your compensation levels and increases to other distributors?  And I think you heard this morning that you said your neighbouring distributors?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Which ones do you generally compare yourself to?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  The ones that -- so neighbour us, I mean, in our area, Waterloo, Kitchener, Cambridge, Erie-Thames, London Hydro, and we don't really compare ourselves to Hydro One.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If that would be a good place to stop.

MS. LONG:  It would, Mr. Aiken.  I think we'll take a 20-minute break, so we will be back at ten to 12:00.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:25 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:54 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Aiken?


MR. STOLL:  Madam Chair, just before we resume, I think Ms. McCann had an opportunity to go through her records and has a response to the undertaking.


MS. LONG:  The undertaking already?


MR. STOLL:  Yes.


MS. LONG:  Very good.


MS. McCANN:  So I believe the question was in regards to the overall increase in appendix 2K; is that correct, Mr. Aiken?  Of the 24,000?


MR. AIKEN:  Specific to the management increase component.


MS. McCANN:  Okay.  So the 24,000 can be broken down in terms of a $42,000 increase to compensation -- due to compensation changes, and then a $17,000 decrease due to the reflection of the 2.5 percent reduced to 2.02 percent.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


I'm moving on now to the area of the bypass agreement, and any of these questions that I ask that you would prefer to have your auditor respond to, just let me know.


So if you can turn to page 240 of the compendium, the third item in this table is the bypass agreement, the 1.23 million amortized over 45 years.


When did Festival pay the $1.23 million?


MS. REECE:  Festival has still not paid that amount.  Our expectation is that Hydro One will be coming back with the calculation shortly and we will be paying it probably in the December timeframe, but we have not as of this date.


MR. AIKEN:  So Hydro One has not invoiced you yet?


MS. REECE:  No.


MR. AIKEN:  And do you expect 1.23 million to change?


MS. REECE:  That is not our expectation based on the original request of 20 megawatts.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Am I correct that you added the 1.23 million to rate base back in 2013?


MS. REECE:  Yes.  It was added December 31st, 2013, because we were benefiting from the agreement starting in the month of December 2013 and all throughout 2014.


MR. AIKEN:  If you respond to 2 Staff No. 9, which is on page 253 and 252 of the compendium, it is actually page 253 I'm going to be focusing on.  Sorry, 255.  I can't read my own typing here.  The response to part (e).


At the top, it says:

"Article 410 of the OEB Handbook is fairly specific that intangible assets include capital contributions paid by the distributor to other distributors for capital projects."

So stopping there, can we agree that this was not a capital contribution to Hydro One, because they in fact didn't build anything?


MS. REECE:  We saw this as the nature of being a contributed capital amount.  It gave us the right to be able to bypass the 20 megawatts from the existing station.


MR. AIKEN:  But do you agree that it's not a capital contribution in the normal sense, where you pay Hydro One, for example, to build a TS?  Because they are in fact decommissioning a TS, if I understand this right?


MS. REECE:  I have to agree with that, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then the second line in the response says:

"While the payment was not directly attributed to a capital project of another distributor..."

And stopping there, would you agree that it was not indirectly related either?  Again, because there was not a capital project of Hydro One?


MS. REECE:  That would be -- yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Then the second part of that sentence goes on:

"...it was a payment to HONI to facilitate the full operation of the asset Festival constructed."

My question on that part of it is:  If there was no payment, why would the facility not be in full operation?


MR. VANDERBAAN:  What happened in the ensuing years since we decided to build the station was that we lost some load.  So basically what happened is we had expected when the transformer went live that we would be picking up the overload, and when two factories closed in Stratford the overload disappeared.  So in essence, if we energized the station, it did not have a bypass so we could not carry any load.  Or very minimal load.  We could pick up maybe one or two of the small customers.


MR. AIKEN:  But there is no physical constraint to you doing a physical bypass of an existing Hydro One station?


MR. VANDERBAAN:  Nothing physical, no.


MR. AIKEN:  Then in part (c), down on the page, further on part (e), it says:

"Festival controls the asset.  Festival has the power to obtain future economic benefit from it, i.e. the ability to distribute power through the TS and bill customers for it."

My question there is:  You could still distribute power through the TS and bill customers, even if you didn't pay for bypassing the Hydro One station?  Regardless of the $475,000 in savings.  But there is no physical limitations to being able -- to bill customers and use the station you built?


MR. VANDERBAAN:  Not physically, but there are regulatory requirements.


MR. AIKEN:  And what are those regulatory requirements?


MR. VANDERBAAN:  The Transmission System Code.  That's where the bypass comes in.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then if you go to -- back to page 240 of the compendium, this is where you -- where it indicates you're amortizing this over 45 years.  What's the amount of the amortization up to and including the end of December 2014, roughly?


MS. REECE:  I believe it's about $1,400, just for the month of December.


MR. AIKEN:  That's December 2013.  I asked for December 2014.


MS. REECE:  Yes -- oh.


MR. AIKEN:  In other words, I'm looking at what's the net amount going into rate base in 2015.


MS. REECE:  Just a second.


MR. SEMSEDINI:  We don't have a calculator handy.


MR. AIKEN:  Is it roughly $18,000?  I just took the 1,400 times 13 months.


MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yeah, I mean, if you really take the 1.2 million, divide it by 45 and multiply it by 13.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So my question is:  That $18,000 or whatever the actual amount is, is that part of the depreciation expense you're proposing to recover the true-up of the ICM?


MR. SEMSEDINI:  No.  So the bypass isn't related to the ICM calculation.


MR. AIKEN:  So that $18,000, you're not proposing to recover?


MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.  We see it is a capital installed in 2013, because it was prudent to save Stratford -- or Festival Hydro customers $475,000 a year in transmission costs.


MR. AIKEN:  So if you could turn to the response to Undertaking JT1.14, this is starting at page 262 of the compendium.


There are three areas in this response, which goes through go to page 268, that I want to ask you about.  The first one is on page 263, and it is under the "Background" heading and it is the second paragraph there.  It says:

"In order to energize the Festival TS station and connect these customers by bypassing the HONI Stratford station, Festival was given two options:  A temporary or permanent bypass agreement with HONI.  Management analysis showed that the temporary bypass agreement, Festival had to ensure that there was no lost revenue to HONI."

So does this mean, for example, you used 10 megawatts out of that station, you'd be billed for that through transmission rates, and then the 10 megawatts that you didn't use you would be billed an equivalent amount?  In other words, you'd always be paying the $475,000, regardless of how much capacity you actually use out of that station under the temporary option?

MR. VANDERBAAN:  Correct.  There would be a true-up that we'd have to do with Hydro One to compensate them.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, so you --


MR. VANDERBAAN:  There would be no savings to the customers.

MR. AIKEN:  It would be like a take or pay.  You take it or you pay for it anyways.

MR. VANDERBAAN:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then it goes on to say that that would be indifferent from the customers' point of view.  Then it says:

"However, through the 1.2 million payment, the bypass agreement, customers would receive an annual net benefit of $475,000 through a reduction of transmission connection charges."

So that's really the purpose of that payment, is to get that $475,000 that you don't need to pay Hydro One any more.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  There is also a reliability element, so by being able to pick up the 20 megs of load it -- so where the station is located is really in the heart of the industrial park within Stratford, so the 20 megs of load is really picking up all the establishments that are around it.

So not only does the customer receive a benefit, but we receive a benefit at Festival Hydro through the reliability of those customers.  The feeder that they used to be on was a very long feeder, and they were at the end of it, so outage times would now go down to those feeders, so it is additional revenue for Festival Hydro during outage situations.  So there is really multi-benefit to the bypass.

MR. AIKEN:  My next question is on -- a paragraph on page 265, right in the middle of the page.  It is a small paragraph.  There it is there.  It says:

"While the standard doesn't..."

And I am assuming here you are talking about the accounting standards.

"While the standard doesn't specifically list bypass costs, it is clear that the expenditure on the permanent bypass would not have occurred without the existence of the new transformer station into service, and it can be argued that the charge is directly attributable."

My question is:  But isn't it true that you did not have to make the payment for the permanent option; you could have gone with the temporary option and kept paying the transmission cost?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Could we have -- we believe that would have been imprudent for our customers.  I mean, a $475,000 savings just to not invest into a $1.2 million asset, I don't think anybody would -- our customers would be very upset with us if we didn't make that type of investment for that type of return.

MR. AIKEN:  I can tell you, we totally agree with you.

On the last page, 268, and this confirms basically what you just said.  The second paragraph it starts off:

"The other factor that needs to emphasize is that Festival entered into this permanent bypass arrangement for the financial benefit to the customer."

Then skipping the next sentence, it goes on to say:

"Not to forget, Festival could have entered into a temporary bypass which have been revenue..."

It says "natural".  I'm assuming that means neutral:

"...for customers and achieve the same result for Festival.  Festival made a conscious decision to add this asset to their rate base and to invest the 1.2 million so as to pass along the $475,000 annual savings to its customers."

Now, when you put it in rate base you are proposing to amortize it over 45 years; is that correct?

MS. REECE:  Yes.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  I understand that you chose the 45 years because it matches the transformer station life, but because this is not directly tied to that station, would it be appropriate to amortize this over a different length of time than the 45 years?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  No, we don't think so, because it really is related to the life of the transformer station.  The bypass is in place while the transformer station is in existence, so if that transformer station were no longer there, the bypass wouldn't be an intangible asset for us there, so although -- so they're related.

MR. AIKEN:  So you couldn't amortize it over a longer period, but could you amortize it over a shorter period?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We believe that we're using matching here, in terms of, we believe the useful life is tied to the useful life of the station.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm going to go on to the incremental capital module.

On your updated evidence that you filed earlier this week -- this is -- well, at the top it says page 1 of 3, but it is well beyond page 1 of the attachment.  But it's -- it references Exhibit 9, tab 3.  Yes, the next page.

MS. McCANN:  I don't actually have those pages saved in the --


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MS. McCANN:  I don't actually have those pages saved in this version.  So if we can look at the hard copies, if everyone has them available, that would be great.

MR. AIKEN:  All right.  Does everybody have a hard copy?

MR. STOLL:  Does everybody have a hard copy?  I do have extras if people...

MR. AIKEN:  So I'm looking at the page that has a table at the bottom, and in the bottom right-hand corner of the table there is a figure of $415,111.  I've got a number of questions on this table.

On the first line, the incremental revenue requirement as originally filed, the 448,275 and the 672,412, I notice that these numbers are reversed from the original filing in Exhibit E9, tab 3, schedule 12, page 9.  It actually had the 672,000 being in 2013 and the 448- in 2014.

And I guess my question is:  Which one is the correct set of numbers?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We're just finding the original one.

MS. REECE:  When we went back to do the true-up procedure, as noted, what we did was we took a look at the fact that the transformer station was not energized until December of 2013, and for the year of 2014.

So we looked at it as a 13-month true-up that we were looking at there.

So in the revised table here, what I am now showing is 2013 -- the eight months for 2013 and 2014 as being the full-year impact, because the rate year goes -- or the rate base goes from December 31st through to December 31st, 2014 and the next, so I have shown it based on the annualized asset base.  So in 2013 we had collected from -- starting on May 1st, 2013, the 448,000 through the revenue requirement, or that was the requirement.  A full year in 2014, 12 months' worth, would be 672,000.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, you said the amounts collected.

MS. REECE:  Sorry, no, I meant the revenue requirement.  So we were recognizing our revenue requirement for 2013 from May 1st through to December 31st on the new schedule, and 2014 for the 12 months.

MR. AIKEN:  But my understanding is that this didn't go into service until December of 2013.

MS. REECE:  If you look at the table here, the actual -- when we came up with our revenue requirement, based on the true-up of cost, we are only recognizing the one month for 115,000 in December of 2013, and for the full year of 2014.

MR. AIKEN:  So for 2013, you've got one month of depreciation?

MS. REECE:  Yes, one month of depreciation.

MR. AIKEN:  And 2014, you have 12 months of depreciation?

MS. REECE:  12 months, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  At the full year rate?

MS. REECE:  Yes, at the full year rate.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Okay.  So let me skip down to the 415,111.  Is all of that -- this is the amount that you are proposing to recover.  Is all of that the difference in the depreciation between the full year and the half year?

MS. REECE:  No, what it is is we calculate the model again, the ICM model.  And we updated the model based on the asset value, the average asset value for the year 2014, the actual depreciation and the actual CCA for that year, and then we applied it over a 13-month period.

MR. AIKEN:  How much lower would the 415,000 be if, instead of using full-year depreciation, you used the half-year depreciation that you included in your rate rider?

MS. REECE:  Yes.  We included the full year because we only took one month in 2013, and we only recognized one month's worth of depreciation in 2013.  So for the 2014 year, we've recognized the full-year depreciation.

MR. AIKEN:  And so that's a change from your original evidence?

MS. REECE:  Yes, it is.

MR. AIKEN:  Because in your original evidence, you were proposing to recover eight months of full depreciation in 2014?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.  So when we had a look at the true-up, we thought -- we kind of looked over it again, and to us it made the most sense that when you look at a true –up, you say:  What did we plan to happen in the original ICM application and what transpired?

So we updated the values that changed from our original forecast to what actually happened, and that being the gross asset value and the half-year rule treatment, because we weren't now filing an ICM in the year before the cost of service application and we are truing up that value with what we've actually estimated for collection over that timeframe.

MR. AIKEN:  As part of this application you are also changing your rate year from May 1st to January 1st; correct?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.  We've moved the year, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  So if you had been in for 2014 rates effective May 1st, 2014 and you were doing this true-up, would there be any difference in what you're proposing now compared to what you would have done then?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes, there would have been a difference.

MR. AIKEN:  And what would that difference be?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We would have trued up with the half-year rule applied, because we're in the year before a cost of service application.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  That's the part I don't understand.  If you came in and your rate rider was based on the half-year rule for depreciation --


MR. SEMSEDINI:  Mm-hmm?

MR. AIKEN:  -- then you come up to the end of April of 2014 and you are truing up -- in your financial records you are using full-year depreciation for January through April of 2014.  Wouldn't you true up those four months of higher depreciation compared to the lower depreciation that was built into the rate rider?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. McCANN:  If we were truing up to match the accounting treatment, the depreciation, then yes, we would have included that in the true-up.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, the one figure that -- or the two figures that have changed here are shown on the third line.  The 115,897, I'll start with that one.

Have you provided a table similar to the one on page 3 of this update that shows how that 115,897 is calculated?  Because it appears to be significantly different from your original evidence.

MS. REECE:  The 115 -- the 115,897 represents one month's worth of the calculation under the incremental capital adjustment.  And in coming up with our revised filing here, we did make reference to Oakville's filing for -- their ICM filing.  And in the year in which they did their cost of service, they did a comparison for a full year on an annualized basis, and they applied that back then over the years in which the ICM was there.

So for example, in 2011, they used the single model here itself.  In 2011, they applied eight months.  2012/'13, they applied the 12 months from the model.  And then in 2013, their cost of service year, they applied the four months.

So Festival Hydro followed that same methodology as they had applied there in their situation, Oakville, in terms of -- on page here, recalculating the incremental capital adjustment, taking into account our full value of the capital depreciation and CCA, and then applying it over the period in which the TS itself had been energized, starting in December of 2013.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Maybe if I can compress that answer, the 115 is one-twelfth of the 1.39 million?

MS. REECE:  Exactly.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  That's the part that I didn't realize.

Then turning to page 3, which comes up with the 1.39 million, the only question I have here on these sets of numbers is:  How did you come up with the CCA deduction of 951,000?

Because I tried to replicate that, and I can tell you that I get a number that is substantially higher.

MS. McCANN:  We basically took the TS asset and -- it's broken up into many different CCA classes for tax purposes.  So that calculation would be difficult to replicate without knowing the dollars that went into each class.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you undertake to provide that calculation so we could see what CCA classes are going into where?

MS. McCANN:  Yes, we have that table.  I don't have it right now, but I can undertake to get that for you.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking J1.2. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE CALCULATION FOR THE CCA DEDUCTION OF $951,000.

MR. AIKEN:  If you could turn to page 252 of the compendium, at the bottom of the second table there is an amount of 14,945,000, rounded to 14,946,000, shown as the net book value upon transfer as of January 1st, 2015.

Is this still the amount that you plan on including in the test year rate base, or are there some updates needed?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. REECE:  In response to that, the actual amount that we are planning to put into -- with rate base, which is under Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 2, is a net book value at January 31st of 2014 of 14,946,001, which I believe is a $3 rounding difference.  Okay?

MR. AIKEN:  And so there's no updates --


MS. REECE:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  -- on this.  Okay.  Then if you turn to page 259 in the compendium -- sorry, not 259.  That's where we were.  257, this is the response to 9 Staff 62.  I take it that there would be no update to this table as well?  None of these numbers would have changed as well?

MS. REECE:  One moment, please.

That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  On this table, this seemed to be an aggregate of everything.  It is the rate base, the OM&A, and the depreciation numbers.

So am I correct that the second- and third-last lines are the OM&A that you are requesting the Board allow you to recover?

MS. REECE:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And the rate base amount is based on the first line, the 15.3 million in gross, net of the 365,000 in depreciation?

MS. REECE:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Then is all the other amounts covered by the true-up of the ICM rate rider?

MS. REECE:  Yes, I'd say, yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you, panel, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.

Mr. Rubenstein, are you asking questions on behalf of SEC and AMPCO?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I am.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  With respect to sort of the overview, I'll provide you with the area of questions that I will be asking.  A number of areas have been covered by Mr. Aiken, and I will be asking questions sort of about -- let me preface this by saying we take -- and I'm speaking for SEC specifically -- we have similar issues with Mr. Aiken.  The issues that are of interest to his client in this proceeding are of interest to my client.

With respect to the questions that I'll be asking on behalf of both parties, questions about general efficiency, capital expenditures, and specifically executability of their plan.

In the area of OM&A, questions about overtime, as well as a couple questions on the ICM and the bypass compensation.  As well, with respect to working capital, just a couple of follow-up questions of things that were set out during the cross-examination earlier on today.

MS. LONG:  And then I think I heard this morning some discussion about the fixed/variable split for GS over 50, that you may not be asking questions on that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I will not.  That is --


MS. LONG:  That is an argument.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- straight for argument.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel.  As you heard, I will be asking questions on behalf of the School Energy Coalition and the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

I prepared a short compendium.  I'm wondering if that could be marked as an exhibit, and if the panel has copies of it.

MS. LONG:  We do.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  SEC/AMPCO COMPENDIUM.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It contains information from the record, as well, some information not on the record, but I've provided to my friends in excess of 24 hours ago.

I have a number of areas, but just a few questions in each of those areas because of Mr. Aiken's thorough examination.

I was wondering if we could start by going to page 15 of the compendium.  And this is with respect to the empirical research in support of incentive ratemaking 2013 benchmarking update that was issued in the summer of this year.

And if you look on page 15, we see Festival Hydro for 2011 to 2013, and 19.2 percent actual compared to predicted costs.

So am I to understand what this analysis is showing is that your total costs are 19 percent higher than the econometric model would predict for you?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would you agree with me that this would show at 19.2 that Festival is not a very efficient distributor?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I would not agree with that, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you accept, subject to check, compared to other distributors on this table, that Festival would be the seventh-least efficient distributor?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Again, I don't accept that this analysis shows that we are not efficient.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand that.  My question was, based on the numbers on this table, which I understand that you have an issue with, would you take subject to check that that would show that Festival Hydro is the seventh-least efficient distributor based on the numbers on this table?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  At this point I would have to take your word for it, so subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, earlier on you mentioned that you had an issue with the data and that you had written to Board Staff for clarification order, lodge your complaint, I'm not exactly sure.

Is that letter on the record in this proceeding?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I don't believe it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm wondering if you could undertake to file that letter.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I can do that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That would be Undertaking J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO FILE THE REQUESTED LETTER.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, in your discussions earlier on this morning with Mr. Aiken, you talked about how, based on your corrected numbers, that it would take about ten years to get Festival Hydro to the benchmark; did I understand that correctly?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  No, that is not based on corrected numbers.  So based on the numbers that are in front of us here, if we take into account our reduction in capital spend and applied that within the model, it would appear that within a ten-year time frame we would be back at the benchmark value.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And why does Festival Hydro believe that it is appropriate for ratepayers to wait ten years for it to be at the benchmark?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Because if you look, capital costs aren't like OM&A costs, so because the thing that is driving our costs that 19 percent over is capital, even if I went to zero dollars I wouldn't get back to the benchmark cost, because this model takes an iterative approach of capital spend over the last ten to 15 years to get its number, so the 16 percent reduction that I'm showing will cause roughly a $240,000 reduction in our total cost per year, so this isn't something that you can just have answered in a year time frame.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What is Festival Hydro doing to become more efficient?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  This is something that I went over before.  Within our OM&A side, which, again, if you compare Festival Hydro 2015 numbers including the cost of transformer station OM&A, and not including the fact that our customers are now saving $475,000 because of the input of a bypass, we would still be the twentieth-lowest OM&A company when comparing our 2015 budgets to 2013 actual of other utilities.

So I think we're being very conservative in saying that we'd be the 20 best, and I think what some of the other evidence that you had filed showing we're in the first group of distributors in OM&A for the last three years, so you would ask:  Well, what changed?  Well, now we're looking at capital.

So again, if you look at what Festival Hydro has done in terms of capital, we've gone through a distribution system plan, we've taken an overall look at our capital requirements, and we've done a 16 percent reduction per year of our capital compared to the five previous years, taking out smart meters and transformer stations, so that's just kind of the equal amounts.

That reduction puts us at the ninth-lowest utility in terms of spending as a percentage of depreciation.  So having, you know, something in the lowest 20 of OM&A and lowest nine in capital, I think Festival Hydro is showing that it has taken to heart what this report has shown us and trying to do what our customers would like us to do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you are telling me that essentially you are spending less and less, that's going to improve our ranking.  My question is:  In your spending how are you becoming more efficient --


MR. SEMSEDINI:  I think we have shown over the last five years that we haven't added any staff, and although I can't go to a number here to tell you how many other utilities can say that they haven't added a staff head count in five years, I would say that that shows that Festival Hydro always looks when a position becomes available how we can do more with the resources that we have.

I also think if you look at our metric in terms of pay for per employee, the average employee cost and the average management cost amongst our neighbouring utilities, we are the second-lowest in both categories amongst all the neighbouring utilities that we compare it to.

So again, I think this tells the story of what Festival Hydro is doing and how it takes into account our customers, and where we benchmark versus other utilities.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in terms of capital, putting aside the compensation component that makes its way into capital, with respect to how you're implementing your capital plan and your capital program, how are you becoming more efficient?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I mean, I think there are different elements.  So we put in -- if you look at it in an element-by-element basis, we are doing pole inspections.  So this will allow us to catch poles that might critically fail and extending the life by doing treatments on those poles.

So that has an impact on the number of poles that we replace on a year-over-year basis.

I think if you look at our vehicle assessment, we are reducing the numbers of vehicles owned and operated by Festival Hydro, which makes our fleet more efficient.

As positions come up, we look at is it more efficient to keep those positions in-house or sub them out to external sources to reduce costs.

These are all things that we do to ensure that we are efficient in our operation on a year-over-year basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you forecasting to utilize third parties in greater -- at a greater percentage in the test period?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to page 19 of the compendium?  This is the appendix 2AB form for the Distribution System Plan.

I'm looking five lines from the top.  This is under "Total expenditures," where you are comparing your actuals versus plan.

And if we look at 2010, would you agree with me that based on the table, in terms of capital expenditures your actuals were 16.2 percent lower compared to your budgeted amount, the plan for that year?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we look over at 2011, would you agree with me that your actuals are 9.8 percent lower than your budget amount?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we look at 2012, would you agree with me that, based on the table, your actuals are 3.4 percent lower than compared to your plan?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then for 2013, it would be 1.6 percent lower than your plan?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you would agree with me that from 2010 to 2013, each year you've spent less than you had budgeted to spend in those years?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Again, this is a bit of a complex question.  So the absolute numbers in these capital expenditures as they're shown as part of our capital plan are lower, but as I had mentioned in a couple of responses, the year-over-year, there's been changes.

So for example, some work that was budgeted in this capital might have gone into transformer spending.  So although it's not showing here, it has actually become part of the transformer station.

There's also capital allotted for an ODS system, and that is how we do our smart meter verification, editing and estimating process.  We were initially looking to capitalize that process, but found it cheaper to go out and have somebody provide a service for us.  So although now here it doesn't come up as a capital expenditure and it is an expense, it is still something that we installed, or we got in our system.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that doesn't show up as a capital expenditure in the table?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 20 of the compendium, this is the updated appendix 2AA.  I'm looking here at the bottom if we go to the 2014 bridge year.

Am I correct that your 2014 bridge year forecast is $2.773 million in capital expenditures?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we look at 2014 year to date -- and first let me ask you:  Am I correct in my understanding that 2014 year to date is at the end of August?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Subject to check.  We'll verify that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that as of, then, August 2014, you have spent 1.1 -- roughly $1.12 million, capital expenditures?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that would be roughly 40 percent of your planned budget for 2014 that you've spent by the end of August?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct, which is usually in line with -- the way our capital and OM&A spending happens is at the beginning of the year, because of the rough weather conditions, we do more OM&A spending at the front of the year.  And then at the end of the year we're more into a capital mode.

So when we do our comparisons of capital spend on a year-over-year basis, this isn't out of line with what we have in previous years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you would say that roughly spending 40 percent of your planned budget at two-thirds -- with two-thirds of the year passed is in line with past spending?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I -- let me look under the projects specifically, and I want to ask you a question about one of them specifically.  And that's under "System service."

Switchgear replacements, you had planned to spend $110,000 in this year, and to date you've spent none of it?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you still in line to complete the project by the end of the year?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yeah.  So this is a project where the majority of cost is associated with the actual switchgear.  So we've ordered two switchgear units.  The actual replacement can be done in three to four hours, so it is weekend work as soon as the units are received.  So it is not a job that takes three months to complete; it is several hours to complete.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, we're now into November.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you replacing switchgears?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We are waiting for shipment and we are hoping to have those in December.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then you will able to, between whenever you get them in December and the end of the year, be able to complete the entire $110,000?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take to you page 21, I have a couple of questions about pole replacement.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that you are forecasting to spend 650,000 on pole replacements during the test year?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that would represent approximately 25 percent of your test year capital budget?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes, that sounds about right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is your pole replacement program is to maintain a replacement pace so that you keep the same number of poles that you have over 40 years of age to the same level ten years ago as they would be to today?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  yeah, correct.  Just as our customers said they want to maintain reliability levels, so we have chosen any poles over 40 years to keep that pace equal so we don't see reliability tracking in a negative direction.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you have a sense of what percentage of your poles would be over 40 years?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I think that's in -- I believe in the asset management plan, which is part of the Distribution System Plan.  We have the -- the age demographic of wood poles.  That does not include concrete poles, which at this point we're not looking at replacing, but they are going to hit 50 years old in about ten years' timeframe as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you wouldn't have, sort of in a ballpark figure, what percentage of your poles would –- at or over 40 years?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Over the ten-year timeframe, I think that chart will show that you 900 poles are coming due kind of over the next ten years.  So then let's say there is another 600.  So I'm guessing it's about 1,500 poles of the entire 6,220 poles that we have in our system.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are coming -- would be over 40 in the next ten years?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  And, sorry, that's only wood poles.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But I'm asking today:  Do you have a sense of how many of your poles, what percentage of your poles would be over 40 years?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  If did I that math.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Divide by 10, you mean?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  What is it?  Just give me one second and I'll...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am just asking you for a ballpark.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I am just making sure we are comparing apples here, in terms of only wood poles versus the wood pole population, or...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you want to take this by way of undertaking, that's okay.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  That's okay.  I have it right here.

So total, there's 2,736 poles, wood poles within Festival Hydro's distribution system.

If I look at any pole that is, I'll say, 1970 and older, we have 4 –- 650 -- let's call it about 700 poles that are currently over that amount.  So quick math is 25 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

My understanding from the evidence -- I think this is on page 22 at the top -- my understanding is that interruptions caused by pole failures have been too few to trigger changes in the pole replacement program.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.  We like to replace poles before they fail.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I would be correct that 40 years for Festival is the estimated useful life of a wood pole?

[Witness panel confers] 

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I would say roughly 40, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's why you're replacing them -- or that's why sort of the 40 years is the marker of what the replace -- 40 years is the sort of the marker of what the replacement -- the replacement level?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We use the 40 years as an understanding of not growing our population of poles that are over 40 years old, because they're getting close to the end of their useful life, if not already there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 25.  This is in an excerpt from the EB-2013-0416.  This is the Hydro One proceeding.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if I can take you to -- so it's on page 25 of our compendium, and on line 14, this is -- Hydro One says:

"An analysis of wood pole failures has indicated that an expected life of a wood pole is approximately 62 years."

Do you see that?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you agree with me that there is -- the useful life of your poles is 22 years less than at least Hydro One says theirs is?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What is the basis of the 40 years you are utilizing?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  When you start getting poles that are reaching the end of useful life -- and 40 years, yes, it does match us from an accounting standpoint, but we also know that poles deteriorate, so we have to pick a line in the sand somewhere and say that say we need to start addressing poles that hit a certain age.

For us, our belief is the 40 years and older is a good demographic if the expected life is -- if Hydro One is saying their poles fail at 62, to say that between 40 and 62 we are looking at replacements for these poles.

And the other thing that I think you need to take into account is pacing, so with Festival Hydro we've created a plan here that over a ten-year period keeps our spending flat, and we don't want to get into the positions, as other utilities do, where they push the boundaries of useful life and all of a sudden they need to come back to their customers and say, Oh, by the way, we've gone from replacing 100 poles a year to now 700 poles a year because we weren't maintaining the proper level of change, so we believe it is really a pace issue and it's an issue of maintaining reliability of our customers, and we've heard that messaging loud and clear from them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that, but my question is, you are utilizing a 40-year useful life.  That term has meaning.  They're -- at least in this excerpt says -- they're utilizing 62 years as your useful life.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why the difference?  Why -- it is a significant difference, and that's why I raise it.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  This is a complex question, in terms of, I don't know what Hydro One's complete methodology is, but in terms of Festival Hydro's methodology, we don't feel letting a pole stay out there until it fails is the right approach, and from a safety perspective, from a reliability perspective, from what we've heard from our customers, we believe that changing poles at this pace is the right pace for our utility.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand you don't want to wait until a pole fails before you replace it, but why have you chosen 40 and not 45 or 50?  What analysis has Festival done with respect to sort of when you should replace a pole?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  So the analysis that we've done to date is we do pole inspections, so, you know, through our system we come through and look at the number of poles that we have that need to be replaced.

On a year-over-year basis we find about 15 polls are emergency replacements that are completed, and again, although age isn't the -- is not the only factor when looking at the condition of an asset, it is a determining factor.

So for us, because of our depreciation, our useful life being 40 years, we use that as a stop to say anything over that, we are just trying to maintain the numbers.  So we are not trying to create a larger population then.  You know, if we are talking a year or two off, the distributions that we use is over a ten-year time frame, so I can't tell you if the number of poles that are 42 years versus 40 years is a large difference, but I think it meets the requirements of our customers, and we had to say, look, over 40 you're going to start having problems, and we are just looking at it as an age demographic.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's my question:  How do you know that over 40 years that there is a significant degradation in quality after 40 years?  Because I heard you just say, Well, our depreciation is at 40 years, our useful life.  I'm trying to find out how you come to those numbers.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Right.  So when we look at our pole inspections we'll find that it is the older poles that are the ones that require additional work, or the ones that we have to remove right away, so we just use that as a marker, and also, we look at our reliability stats.  If we find that -- for example, let's say if we picked a number that was, okay, we replace poles after 65 years, our expectation is then that the number of pole failures and reliability issues associated with that would increase, and for us as a utility, I mean, I would like to see the number of zero.

When you are in an urban populated area, if a pole fails you could have safety issues.  That could be different than Hydro One's approach, especially when they are looking at long rural feeders with not a lot of population around.

So from our perspective it is really to maintain pole failures at almost a zero percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Moving on to another area, this is just a follow-up question to earlier on with respect to working capital.  During the cross-examination, Ms. Fry asked you about a list of things that are specific to a distributor in determining its working capital, and you provided a list.  I don't have a transcript, but you are sort of talking about things that when you can pay your employees, when you, you know, receive bills and those sorts of things, and my question is simply:  Are you aware of any practices that Festival undertakes with respect to the list of things that would be really materially different than other distributors?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I can't speak to the laundry list of items and compare it to any LDC.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there anything that sort of comes to mind that Festival does materially different than other distributors?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I can't say.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you can move on to OM&A, and I specifically have some questions with respect to overtime.

My understanding of the evidence is that unionized and non-management employees get overtime if they work more than eight hours per day or 40 hours per week; is that correct?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that the overtime rate is double the regular pay of money, correct?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Has Festival done any benchmarking of policies with other LDCs about their overtime pay, you know, double versus, say, time and a half?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I would say a formal review, no, but, I mean, these are kind of elements that come up as part of the collective bargaining, certain issues that we deal with on every new agreement that comes up.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you have not been --


MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yeah, there is no formal process that we've done.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Informal.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Not that I could compare a number and tell you that X number of utilities pay double-time versus time and a half.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Were there any changes in Festival's overtime policy made with respect to the most recent collective agreement that you have entered into?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, at -- I didn't -- we haven't included in the compendium, but it is mentioned that you look at external comparators when you are determining compensation increases.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Correct?  You don't do that when you're talking about overtime policies.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, on page 38 of the compendium, on part J you were asked to provide overtime amounts, planned versus actuals for 2011, 2013, and then for 2014 and the 2015 plan.  And your response is that Festival does not plan overtime.

I think there has simply been a misunderstanding with the question.  By "planned" the interrogatory is asking about your budgeted amounts for those years, because you do budget an amount for overtime.  You don't know exactly when it's going to occur, obviously.

Are you able to provide that interrogatory, the actuals versus what you had budgeted in each of those years?  Obviously by way of undertaking.  I'm not asking you to do that now.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We don't do that as a -- when we say we don't budget, we don't have it as a separate line item, so what ends up happening is we manage overtime within our budgets, both our OM&A and capital.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for the forecast 2014 -- let's talk about 2015, what's in the application for 2014.  Is there no line -- when you're determining your OM&A budget, is there no amount for expected overtime?  You don't -- you know, based on historical trends or something there is no amount in there?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  No, because the overtime is spread over many different activities, potentially many different GLs, so we're kind of looking at average spend in that area, but we don't really break it up by saying is it overtime or regular time.  It is just an amount.

MS. LONG:  Do you compare year to year what you spend on overtime?  At the end of the year do you do an assessment of what the total overtime cost is?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.  So mostly what we do in terms of overtime -- so most our overtime would be from outside sources.  We get quarterly updates in terms of the amount of overtime hours worked.  So the thing that we do there is we'll compare that over how it's trending for the year and how that looks compared to other years.  So is the average outside employee working 150 hours of overtime a year or 200 hours?

So that is something we do keep an eye on.

But, again, it's really being managed within the budget, because, for example, if you had a couple of retirements maybe the amount of overtime goes up, but the overall cost is down.  So you have to look at it through the lens of the OM&A cost and the capital costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if I just turn you on the top of page 3,039 of the compendium, this is your answer to that interrogatory.  You say:

"Festival does not plan overtime but expects there will are be circumstances every year, unplanned outages, scheduled outages during peak hours to accommodate specific capital and maintenance projects, after hours reconnects, et cetera, that will require the use of overtime.  And our annual budget reflects a typical amount of overtime will be required during the year."

So this answer seems to be saying that do you include, somewhere in the budget, overtime?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.  It's the year-to-year, right?  It's that overall -- the overtime is built into our costs.  So if I look at my overall OM&A spending in 2014 versus '15, there is an amount of overtime included in there, especially when we look at actuals because there is actual -- actual overtime in there.

So -- but we don't go out separately and say:  Oh, how much overtime are we scheduling for the year?  We manage it through the budget.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So when you do the cost driver table and there is a line for overtime, how are you determining that amount?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  So basically there is just what we're trying to show in terms of the compensation spending.  So if you look at the 2010 year all the way to 2015, we are just trying to break out the elements that -- that's involved in that compensation increase.

The overtime can be tracked, from a GL, I would suspect.  So can you do -- so each budget item?

Yes, there is a budget ID for overtime, so we can actually grab that number to do the analysis of the whole, but, again, it's not used in our year-to-year determination.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So can I ask you then -- I understand you can't provide the budgeted amount of overtime, but can you provide the overtime amount actuals for 2011 through 2014?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We think the actuals are actually in the –- sorry, the cost drivers are in the cost driver table.  The actual amounts should be part of the cost driver table.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  They show the changes, but not the absolute amount.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Okay.  So can you do that?  Okay.

We could pull the 2010 amount and then -- is it okay just to have the 2010 amount, and then you can have the plus/minuses kind of there?  Or do you want each year?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, that's fine.  I can do the math.

So one more question on the issue of --


MS. LONG:  So that's an undertaking that you are giving?  We should get a number for that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE THE OVERTIME AMOUNT ACTUALS FOR 2011 THROUGH 2014.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  One more question on overtime.

Does Festival have a written overtime policy for management?  Or a policy for management?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what is that -- sort of in a general sense, what is that policy?

MR. VANDERBAAN:  It generally speaks to extraordinary circumstances.  So for example, if a large storm came through and our operations manager had to work for 16 hours, we would pay him overtime, but on the day-to-day, work-to-work basis, and when we are doing things like this project or that project, we may say to the manager:  We're not going to pay you overtime if you are doing a couple of hours here or there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you paying that overtime at double time like the unionized employees, for managers?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. VANDERBAAN:  The first five hours time and a half, and then it's double time after that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

Just a couple of questions with respect to the ICM and the bypass compensation that are not accounting-related.

My understanding from the evidence is that you're seeking to recover OM&A expenses of approximately 244,000 related to the ICM transformer station that were incurred in the previous two years; am I correct?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.  The expenses of 2013 and '14.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is that Festival did not seek approval of a variance and deferral account to track O&M costs?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Again, this is a bit of a complicated answer.  Within the ICM module, there is nowhere to track OM&A.  And we were in the midst of doing smart metering, which had us track OM&A into a sub-account.

So we followed that same process.  We also sent a letter to Board Staff to say:  Is this correct?  And we responded -- we got a response back saying:  Yes, you can track it that way.

So we did that kind of going forward in good faith.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Did Festival mention in its ICM application increase of OM&A costs that it expects to incur from the time of approval to rebasing?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  No.  As it was our first ICM application, we had never -- and there was really no place in the ICM model to include OM&A, we didn't include that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand the model.  I'm just talking about in the application as a whole, in the written part, about your explaining the projects and how these are --


MR. SEMSEDINI:  No, no.  The only thing we did was created the sub-account to track those costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You created the sub-account to track those costs?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes, sorry.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my question on the bypass:  You mentioned that you're likely -- Hydro One will likely require you to pay or -- provide you the final amount that you will need to pay in December of this year; did I understand that correctly?

MS. REECE:  That's our understanding.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  That's our understanding, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Help me understand.  Do you pay that amount to Hydro One in one instalment, or is it paid over a period of time?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  One instalment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right.  Thank you very much.  Those are our questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  We will take our lunch break now and resume at 2:00 o'clock.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:00 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:09 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Ms. Djurdjevic.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Panel.

The focus for Board Staff's cross-examination will be, firstly, with respect to the true-ups related to the incremental capital module, which includes depreciation and OM&A, and then the second focus of our cross will be the treatment of the bypass agreement.  However, that topic I will cover with the panel tomorrow, rather than bifurcating my examination between the panel today and tomorrow.

We also have just a couple questions at the outset with respect to working capital allowance.  So I will start there.

So in, witnesses, this morning's cross-examination by Mr. Aiken he referred to a number of lead lag studies and other studies done by Navigant for other distributors, and that's all in the Energy Probe compendium.  I'm not going to refer to any specific studies.

However, Navigant had identified various factors that can affect the working capital allowance for a utility, such as billing frequency, and that was canvassed with you.

Another factor appears to be the customer information system, and so I'd just like to ask you a couple of questions about your utility's CIS system.

Do you know how old it is or when it's been upgraded?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  The original package was purchased in 1997, and it's had some upgrades since then.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Are there any plans to upgrade it in the foreseeable future?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We haven't looked into it specifically.  I think it's something that's on our radar at some point in the future.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Does it have -- does the status of the CIS have an impact on your billing practices?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  No, we believe we meet all billing requirements.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, that's about all I have on that topic.

Now, with respect to the ICM true-up, if you could -- I've passed out copies of Board Staff's compendium.  We should make that Exhibit K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And if you can turn up tab 3 of that compendium.  You see it's a copy of a letter from Festival Hydro filed with the Board, advising that -- well, though you'd intended to file a cost-of-service application effective May 1, you were requesting to defer until -- for rates until -- this year for rates effective January 2015.

And could you just confirm that at the time that you sent this letter, your application for an ICM, which was part of your IRM application, was still before the Board?

MS. REECE:  That is correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And if you just confirm that you obviously did not decide to update your 2013 IRM ICM application and request a full year of depreciation instead of the half-year; is that correct?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  That's correct.  We sent the letter, but we were expecting some sort of response approving that we were going to move to the January 1st, 2015 rates.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Why would Festival not have brought that to the Board's attention -- the Board, as in the panel that was hearing the ICM application?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  In terms of, that we hadn't let them know that we had applied to change our rates?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, first of all, either revising your application so that you were -- so as to seek a 2014 full-year depreciation or at least to just advise the panel that that's what you were intending to do so that they would be informed when making their decision.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I think much of it just revolved around the fact that we hadn't yet known that we had changed, so it just, it wasn't updated at that point, but kind of the -- I guess to the issue of it, really, is at the time the half-year rule application was applicable, because we didn't have yet the approval of the 2015, so I think that's what it kind of boils down to from our perspective.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, the decision from that 2013 application is at tab 1 of staff's compendium.  I just want to draw your attention to one of the Board findings, which is on page 12 of the decision.

And just at the very top of that page, quoting from the decision:

"The Board accepts the evidence that a new transformer station is needed and is non-discretionary expense to come into service in 2013.  The Board is further persuaded by the evidence that the project evaluation was done thoroughly and the resulting solutions prudent."

And so I just wanted to point that -- that when the Board made this finding, it did not have the information before it that it was going to -- that you were going to defer your rate application.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.  I would say, though, that when I read that, to me it would seem that the point is -- the Board is pointing to, that the station was needed and non-discretionary, I don't think that changes if we were in the year before a cost-of-service application or if we were deferred.  I mean...

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I guess I'm just getting to the point that there was nothing in the decision, nor was there anything in the proceeding indicating that 2013 was not going to be your last IRM year, but I guess the record says what it says.

So we received just a few days ago an update to your evidence, including a true-up amount of $415,000 that you are seeking to collect through an incremental rate rider, as opposed to the 326- that you originally applied for.

And there was some discussion on the previous cross-examination with respect to the -- why don't we just turn that up.  It's page -- in your updated evidence, the revision to ICM true-up calculation, page 1 of 3, and the chart at the very bottom.  So I'm looking at -- so the 115,000 depreciation, as we discussed, was calculated by taking one-twelfth of the revenue requirement for 2014.

Now I'd like to talk about how you dealt with this in your 2013 tax filings.  You did include the new TS in your 2013 tax return; is that right?

MS. McCANN:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And if you turn up, in Staff's compendium, tab 12, and I'm looking at line -- well, 17, the transformer station equipment.  I see that you've added in the undepreciated capital cost at the beginning of the year is 8.1 million, and then in column 5 you've taken it out, proceeds of disposition, the same amount.

Could you explain why you -- you treated it that way, that you just add it in and then deducted the full amount?

MS. McCANN:  I think we reflected it as an asset not in use in 2012.  In 2013 we took that 8 million, as well as any additional costs incurred in that year, and it was spread out throughout a number of CCA classes, which is one of the undertakings that we're getting from this morning.

So that 8 million is distributed between many CCA classes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, you did apply for and you did get the CCA?

MS. McCANN:  Yes, we did.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Now, for -- and did you use the half-year rule for the CCA calculation?

MS. McCANN:  Yes, for the tax calculations it's taking a half-year in the first year that it becomes in use.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So if you've got half-year of CCA for 2013, that would reduce the taxes or PILs that were payable; is that correct?

MS. McCANN:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And this would in turn reduce the revenue requirement for that year, and therefore the amount of the true-up that should be made, if it should be made; would you agree with that?

MS. McCANN:  I'm sorry, could you just repeat that question for me?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, as we were discussing, if you got a half-year CCA, and that reduces your taxes or your PILS that are payable -- even though it's only been in service one month, you have six months' CCA -- then wouldn't that reduce your overall revenue requirement, and therefore, you know, since we can't go back -- the amount that you are truing up for?  Would that not be affected by the amount of CCA that you got for 2013?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I guess our challenge here is that we followed kind of what Oakville did in terms of a model, and what we saw and what had been approved there was that the model allows for a full-year provision.  And that's what they did; they took a full-year provision, and then they simply multiplied that out by the number of months that the transformer station was in use.

So we just followed that same model, as it had already been approved by the Board.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  But in your particular case -- I guess I should be more specific -- did it create a negative PILS payable situation?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  When we look at the model as one model, this is the result we get, that we look at one year and then project it out for 13 months.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  But I'm asking:  When you did all of the tax return, was the bottom line or the impact of this CCA -- result in a negative PILS or tax payable?

MS. McCANN:  Are you asking about the 2013 actual tax return, or the 2014 PILS calculation in the ICM model?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  The 2013.  I'm happy to take this by way of undertaking if you need some time to collect the documents and --


MS. McCANN:  I mean, in the 2013 actual tax calculation, the CCA on this asset is only one item in the entire tax calculation.  So there was still an effective tax rate that was positive.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  If you could turn to your updated evidence, the page 3 of 3 of the incremental capital adjustment portion, and I'm looking at sort of the third block, "Grossed-up PILS."

So this is the your 2014.  Okay?  And there at the very bottom line, "Incremental grossed up PILS," there is a negative PILS payable there.

And I'm wondering if you have the same sort of result for 2013.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  In our model?  Is that what you're asking?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  In your 2013 tax return.

MS. McCANN:  The 2013 tax return is looking at all of the taxable items relating to the organization; this model only looks at the tax impact of the transformer station.

So I think that's where we're having the disconnect on the question.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, I'm going to ask Staff to clarify this question.  I'm sure she'll do a better job.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  I think what we are trying to get here is that -- I understand that on a standalone basis it looks a little bit strange, because the higher CCA amount that you would have gotten compared to truing up the asset for one month might actually turn into a negative revenue requirement.

But you did, in fact, realize in your overall tax filing the six months of CCA credit; right?

MS. McCANN:  Yes, we did.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  So in that, if you do a revenue requirement calculation for the one month, you would still have to take off the six months of CCA credit that you actually did receive; is that correct?

Because I think the disconnect is truing up for one month, however receiving six months of CCA credit overall.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  For us, we're -- so we're trying to get this calculation right, and for us, all we could do is look at prior filings.

So when we looked at Oakville's filing, they treated it the exact same way we did.  They simply applied a full-year rule of how much capital was spent.

So the only variables that we have in this model are:  What was the total cost of the transformer station, what was your full-year depreciation amount and what was your CCA full-year amount?  Calculates a number, and it is imply multiplied out by the number of months that the transformer station was in use.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, I understand that that's what you did in terms of methodology.  What I'm trying to get to is that, in fact, when we look at the tax credit you received in 2013 and in 2014, that the revenue requirement that you are showing is actually understating the tax credit that you actually received; is that correct?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I would say that the revenue requirement is based out of the model.  And if there was a place for to us put that in, then the model would update.  I mean, we're just following the model as presented.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Armstrong, is your question:  Did they receive a lower tax amount, I guess, based on six months of CCA?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.  What I'm saying is that --


MS. LONG:  In your corporate tax return, did you realize the benefit -- regardless of what happened in the model that you filed, I think what the question is is whether or not you received a reduction for six months of CCA on the asset?  Am I understanding the question?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, that's the question.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. McCANN:  Just to clarify, within the actual corporate tax filing, we did get a half-year rule on the transformer station.  We got six months of CCA.

If we had prepared the model looking -- rather than looking at 13 months across the board, if we had prepared a 2013 model and a 2014 model, 2013 being at the half-year rule, our true-up amount actually would have been greater.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Right, but what I'm saying is in the true-up calculation that you presented, the CCA credit is understated.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  If you looked at 2013, that would be correct, but the model doesn't break up different years; it just gives you a model to put in your full values and do the number of months.

As Ms. McCann just said, the other issue is if you are going to go look back at '13 and then we apply the half-rule year, even though we're getting additional CCA, the amount that we should be recovering from ratepayers would go up $500,000 to offset that difference.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, I understand that.  But the question --


MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yeah, I get that, but the thing here is we're trying to be fair in terms of what we're doing.

The transformer station went up in December.  It was online for 13 months.  When we look at a full-year depreciation schedule, because we didn't apply in a year before a cost of service application, it is no different than what Oakville submitted and was approved for.  And we're doing the exact same thing here.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  All right.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  I'm going to move on to the incremental OM&A portion of the ICM true-up.

Now, when you made your ICM request in 2013, were you -- was the company aware or even contemplating that you would incur incremental OM&A as a result of the TS?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And was this brought to the Board's attention in that proceeding?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  It was not brought, I believe, in the proceeding.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, and...

MR. SEMSEDINI:  And again, you know, if I could chime in here, the -- again, there is really not a place to include OM&A.  I mean, with the construction of the new station, this had been our first station, our first ICM application, and no place for OM&A.  Again, we just followed the same basic principle that we had just completed for smart metering.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, so in this particular application right now, the original application sought to recover incremental OM&A in the ICM account, and this is in -- if you turn up staff's compendium, tab number 5.  And it's an undertaking from a technical conference, JT1.12, under the heading "operating and maintenance expenses of the transformer included in the ICM account".  So I just point that out for reference.

And then after the technical conference the application was reframed and revised, and now it's framed as a Z factor claim.

Can you tell us why or when Festival decided to revise its application and why?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  I would say here, in terms of the Z factor, we were just trying to show -- we were -- you know, there was different discussions about what the treatment would be analogous to, and we thought it was analogous in a lot of ways to Z factor.

In terms of the application, we are not seeking a Z factor.  We believe the OM&A is really a true-up, just like anything else within the ICM application.  There was prudent spending.  We built the transformer station.  We bypassed customers.  Our customers are saving $475,000 a year, and there is capital and OM&A costs associated with that.

So we're really seeking it through the application and not seeking a separate Z factor application.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, just to clarify, but it's not a separate Z factor, but you are claiming it as a Z factor in this -- you're not.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  No, no, no, we're really seeing it as more of a true-up of the actual costs of the station.

MS. LONG:  So if I am looking at this undertaking and I see here the language that you are asking for Z factor recognition, what does that mean in the context of Ms. Djurdjevic's question?  Is Z factor recognition something different than Z factor, different than OM&A?  The panel is trying to get a sense of what it is that you are asking us to do.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Right.  So within our response, we say in the event these expenses are removed.  We just thought if -- a Z factor was another analogous description of something that we could do to recover those amounts, but it is not our position that this is a Z factor application.  We really believe it to be a true-up of actual cost of the transformer station for 2013 and 2014, so we are not seeking a Z factor.

MS. FRY:  Just to clarify, okay, so you have two options:  Your first-choice option and the Z factor.  Are you saying if your first-choice option -- well, if your first-choice succeeds, obviously you don't need to ask for a Z factor.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Right.

MS. FRY:  In the event that your first-choice option were to fail, would you then say please consider our second choice, which is Z factor, or is Z factor off the table?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Our -- what we're thinking now is that really it is a true-up of our application.  OM&A is really a part of the ICM application.  We didn't know that at the time, that it had to be a separate deferral and variance account requested from the Board, so we are not going to seek a Z factor treatment.

MS. FRY:  Even if your true-up request --


MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MS. FRY:  Okay.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So in the JT1.12 you've set out a number of reasons why you believe they should be given Z factor consideration, let's call it that, and you refer to the filing guidelines.  You're also undoubtedly aware of the Board's supplemental report, which is at tab 9 of staff's compendium.

And on page -- and I just point this out for reference.  There is nothing specific here.  The (VII) Z factors, first and foremost, Z factors are events that are not within management's control.

Can you explain why Festival believes that the incremental OM&A expense incurred as part of the new TS were outside of management's control?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  If we're happy with this, we're not seeking a Z factor, so I could comment on it, but I don't know if it -- any bearing to the Board.

MS. LONG:  I think, given the evidence that Festival is not asking for a Z factor, I don't know that the panel needs to hear any more on why --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I wasn't clear whether you are still looking as an alternative --


MR. SEMSEDINI:  No.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- Z factor consideration and -- okay.  All right, we'll move on.

A couple of questions on overall OM&A.  We've already heard in your evidence in cross-examinations before that Festival Hydro is forecasting $250 of OM&A costs per customer.

Have you ever done any comparison between Festival Hydro and other distributors in terms of OM&A per customer?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We have, so again, this is where we get back to where we have compared Festival Hydro's 2015 actual OM&A request versus 2013 OEB yearbook numbers, so again, two years later, and we are still ranking in the top 20 of the most efficient utilities in OM&A costs.

I also again like to point out that our OM&A number also includes over 100,000 in transformer station costs, OM&A costs per year, and what's not reflected is the 475,000 savings that Festival Hydro customers are now going to see on their bill.

So if you look at our OM&A costs, I am proud to say that we are one of the top utilities in the province.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Now I'd like to talk a bit about efficiency gains, and if you could, Ms. McCann, pull up the document that is Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 1.

Okay, and I won't go through them all, but there is a list of operational efficiencies through capital investments, and there is a list of a number of items.

Would you agree that the total of those -- if you can scroll down a little -- we should really have touchscreen things for this -- that the total of these efficiency measures is $106,000 on a going-forward basis, subject to check?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Subject to check.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yeah, okay.  And how have those efficiency gains been reflected in the OM&A budget for 2015?

MS. McCANN:  Some of the amounts -- or these amounts have been included in the cost driver table sometimes as individual cost drivers.  I think you can see the last bullet there, the 8,000 and the 10,000 have been picked up, so they have been reflected in the OM&A.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So I've heard you refer to the last two, the 8- and 10,000, but there's a number of others there.  Are you then saying those are not reflected in your 2015 OM&A budget?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  They shall be.  They shall be reflected.

MS. McCANN:  The fleet as well has been reflected.  The substations has been reflected.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  The loss -- I think the losses have been updated, and this is another area where, again, Festival Hydro is the ninth-lowest loss factor utility in the province as well, so just again showing, I think, how well we are doing as a utility.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, and I will probably be done.  I'm just going to turn off the mics for a second and confer with Staff to see if they have anything else they'd like me to raise.

Okay.  Well, the one other issue that was raised during the previous cross-examination, there's reference to a letter to the -- that Festival had sent to the Board at some point and a response that was received with respect to tracking, as I believe you said your OM&A variance.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Could you first of all just confirm that letter is not filed with --


MR. SEMSEDINI:  It is not filed.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Would you undertake to produce that letter and the response that you received from the Board, and any other related documents?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  It was an e-mail from Board Staff, just so we're clear on that.  And yes, we will file that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  That will be Undertaking J1.5. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PRODUCE CORRESPONDENCE WITH THE OEB AND ANY OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATED TO TRACKING OM&A VARIANCE.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  What can you tell us about that communication?  I mean, as much as you can without the document actually in front of you.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Sure.  So basically in the letter we had talked about dealing with the OM&A expenses, basically in the same terms as we have dealt with the smart meter OM&A expenses, which were done as a subgroup of the cost of smart metering.  And so we highlighted, you know:  Should we be putting our OM&A costs into this sub-account?

And the e-mail came back, confirming:  Yes, that's how you should be treating it.

That letter was sent probably about six months before our transformer station went online.  And again, that was -- you know, having been our first ICM, our first transformer station, having just done smart meters and receiving that response, we relied on that in good faith to go forward.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do you recall from whom from Board Staff you were communicating with?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  It's in the e-mail.  If you want me to say that, I can, but if you just want me to file it...

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  I was --


MS. LONG:  So, Mr. Semsedini, do I understand this correctly, that there is a letter that you sent to the Board?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  An e-mail.

MS. LONG:  And is that letter on the record?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  No, it's not currently on the record, but we can submit it.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  So we would like you to submit a copy of both the letter -- and I understand you are saying there is a response back via e-mail?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Correct.

MS. LONG:  So that would be a separate document that you could also produce?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  We could send it in one -- it has the questions with kind of the answers put through it, so I can send it to you as one e-mail and you'll have both kind of sides of it.  I can file them separately if you like.

MS. LONG:  I guess I'm getting confused.  Are you saying you sent the letter via an e-mail and it was a response back, so it's all in one document?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Exactly, yes.

MS. LONG:  I was confused as to whether there were two separate documents, but just in totality we need the correspondence back and forth.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.  Sure.

MS. LONG:  That would be helpful.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I would just like to reserve my right to cross-examine further upon –- you know, once that letter is filed and we've had a chance to review it, but otherwise that is my cross-examination on these topics to this point.

And with respect to the bypass agreement, that is all for the panel tomorrow.  And as I understand, you are all on that panel as well, with the -- as well as your auditor.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Great.  Thank you very much.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  So, Mr. Semsedini, do you think it's possible to have that filed tomorrow?

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Yes, we could get that filed.

MS. LONG:  And maybe, Ms. Djurdjevic, if you have questions, we could start with you asking any questions on that.  And then I understand that Mr. Janigan is going to be cross-examining this panel.

And then we will move to the second panel, which is an addition of a representative from KPMG?

MR. STOLL:  That's correct.  So after Mr. Janigan, whether you have questions, I would suspect any redirect I would have would be very brief.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Madam Chair, just a clarification.  We believe that we can have all the information for the undertakings, all the undertakings that we have hopefully tonight.  Do we enter that tomorrow morning?  Or can we send something out tonight to everyone?  I'm just wondering what would be best for the Board.

MS. LONG:  As soon as you have it, if you could send it, that would be fine.  And then the intervenors will have a chance to review anything as soon as possible.

MR. SEMSEDINI:  Since this panel is still under oath or together --


MR. STOLL:  To get back to the practical reality of dealing through counsel, so...

MS. LONG:  Yes.  I trust that Mr. Stoll is not going to talk to you to about anything other than those undertakings, so I'm sure everyone's fine with that.

MR. STOLL:  I will not, so...
Procedural Matters:


MS. LONG:  So that, I think, is all for today.  There is one scheduling issue that I would like to discuss.  I understand that with respect to argument from the intervenors and reply, some dates were put out to the parties and those were deemed to be unacceptable and too short, and that people want two weeks for argument and then two weeks for reply.

I can tell you that that is not acceptable to the Panel; that would take us to December 12th.  So I'm going to ask you to all go back and have another discussion and see if you can't compress that down and come back to us tomorrow with the proposal.

MR. STOLL:  That's fine.  We'll have a response for you first thing tomorrow.

MS. LONG:  That would be helpful.  Thank you.

So if there is nothing further, then we are adjourned until tomorrow, panel.  We will see you back, then.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:44 p.m.
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